

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Leadership Strategies for Retaining Mariners Aboard State Maritime Academy Training Ships

Augusta D. Roth Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Augusta D. Roth

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Robert Levasseur, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvette Ghormley, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Deborah Nattress, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Leadership Strategies for Retaining Mariners Aboard

State Maritime Academy Training Ships

by

Augusta D. Roth

MBA, University of Phoenix, 2008 BS, Texas A&M University, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

Abstract

The shortage of qualified merchant marines in the United States requires State Maritime Academy (SMA) leaders to develop competitive retention strategies to retain merchant mariners aboard training vessels. The purpose of this single case study was to identify retention strategies that U.S. SMA leaders used to retain mariners aboard training ships. The conceptual framework of this study was Vroom's expectancy theory. The study participants consisted of 5 SMA leaders overseeing the mariners aboard a training vessel. Semistructured interviews and review of SMA documents pertaining to employment strategies provided the study data. The data analysis included collecting and coding data, and using the constant comparative method to identify the themes. Four themes related to successful retention strategies emerged from the data analysis: (a) the monetary value of employment and benefits must be comparable to what is available in the maritime industry, (b) professional development is necessary to maintain maritime industry credentials and improve employee performance within the organization, (c) recognition and understanding of the uniqueness of being a mariner as a profession is important to mariners, and (d) transparency and trust increase communication and improve retention. The findings of this study contribute to positive social change by providing best practices for SMA leaders to integrate retention strategies to improve employment satisfaction, enhance the training of mariners on U.S. waterways, and increase longevity of qualified mariners, which could create a healthy and positive work environment.

Leadership Strategies for Retaining Mariners Aboard

State Maritime Academy Training Ships

by

Augusta D. Roth

MBA, University of Phoenix, 2008 BS, Texas A&M University, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

Dedication

I dedicate this project to my supportive family. My patient son and devoted parents have provided me with stability through the stressful and challenging times of my life. They have also brought me happiness and joy. Without my family, I could not have found the success I have had in my life. Thank you for blessing my life.

Acknowledgments

I acknowledge the success of my doctoral journey required many friends, families, and mentors. I could not have done it alone and thank many for their patience. I especially like to thank my chair, Dr. Robert Levasseur, for committing to my success and mentoring me through my trials and tribulations during my study. Also, I would like to thank Dr. Yvette Ghormley for the valuable input in perfecting my research skills and writing. I would also like to thank my peers in the program for providing support that helped carry me to success; especially Dr. Kenneth Johnson and Vincent Edwards, ABD. Lastly, I thank my family. It is a new journey for my family, as I am the first to achieve a Masters and Doctorate. The process is unknown to many, but these people provided comfort, understanding, guidance, and mentorship to help me strive for improvement in society and myself. Thank you all for your selfless and endless support.

List of Tablesv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question
Interview Questions
Conceptual Framework
Definition of Terms7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study9
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Vroom's Expectancy Theory 11
Other Expectancy and Motivation Theories
Overview of the Maritime Industry15

Table of Contents

Various Perspectives of the Merchant Marine	17
Maritime Regulations and Requirements	18
Shortage of Mariners	20
Maritime Training Facilities	22
Maritime Industry Recruitment	23
Maritime Industry Retention	25
Employment Marketing and Alternate Resources	26
Employment Motivation Themes	28
Mariner Wealth and Compensation	30
Mariner Appreciation and Recognition	31
Maritime Employment Risk	34
Mariner Sacrifice and Job Satisfaction	36
Opportunities for the Merchant Marine	38
Maritime Education and Training of Mariners	40
Summary	41
Transition and Summary	42
Section 2: The Project	44
Purpose Statement	44
Role of the Researcher	44
Participants	47
Research Method and Design	48
Research Method	48

Research Design5	50
Population and Sampling5	52
Ethical Research	54
Data Collection Instruments5	56
Data Collection Technique	58
Data Organization Techniques	51
Data Analysis Technique	52
Reliability and Validity	54
Reliability6	54
Validity6	55
Summary	56
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	58
Introduction	58
Presentation of the Findings	59
Theme 1: Competitive Compensation6	59
Theme 2: Professional Development	2
Theme 3: Recognition for Performance and Responsibilities	14
Theme 4: Transparency and Trust to Create Positive Work Environment	6
Findings Related to ET7	78
Applications to Professional Practice	30
Implications for Social Change	32
Recommendations for Action	33

Recommendations for Further Research	
Reflections	86
Conclusion	86
References	
Appendix: Interview Protocol–SMA Leader	115

List of Tables

Table 1. A Frequency Comparison of Competitive Compensation	70
Table 2. A Frequency Comparison of Professional Development	72
Table 3. A Frequency Comparison of Recognition for Performance and	
Responsibilities	74
Table 4. A Frequency Comparison for Transparency and Trust to Create a	
Positive Work Environment	77

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Approximately 90% of global trade conducted is via merchant vessels in navigable waterways (International Maritime Organization [IMO], 2015; Mori, 2014). The United States has over 3.5 million miles of such waterways that require U.S. merchant mariners to be aboard U.S.-flagged vessels to ensure safe navigation, according to the Jones Act (Diggs, 2014; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2013). However, the shortage of mariners to operate vessels globally (Berzins & Barbare, 2013; Maritime Administration, 2015) affects the quality of mariner training at the State Maritime Academies (SMA; Saeed, Bury, Bonsall, & Riahi, 2016), because few experienced mariners are available to train cadets at the SMA. Merchant mariner cadets in officer training must meet substantial training requirements (Mori, 2014). With the 2010 Manila amendments by the IMO, which is part of the UN's Standards of Training, Certification, and Watchkeeping Amendments in the United States, the amount of required mariner training has increased (Mori, 2014). This increase in training and regulatory requirements to create a safer work and global environment requires that mariners meet additional qualifications and standards necessary to protect cargo, ships, and lives at sea (Bruno, 2013).

Background of the Problem

Mariners must learn the industry's changing national and global regulations, endure work rotations that require weeks or months of absence from home, and undergo costly training to acquire certification that maintains their industry credentials for protecting the environment from pollution and hazardous practices (Caesar & Cahoon, 2015). Typically, mariners find maritime training opportunities through an undergraduate or postgraduate curriculum offered at a U.S. SMA (Lau & Ng, 2015). But the global shortage of mariners and the increased training requirements present a possible retention issue for SMA leaders.

The retention of experienced mariners at academic institutions affects the quality and success of each institution (Hundera, 2014). SMA leaders' emphasis on retaining experienced mariners to train cadets could further improve the skills needed to protect the crew, cargo, vessel, and environment from the hazards of transporting goods at sea (Romelczyk & Becker, 2016). By focusing on retaining the highest quality of mariners to work aboard seagoing training vessels, SMA leaders may improve the education and employment opportunities for the upcoming mariners in the United States. Therefore, the focus of this study was on determining the retention strategies that SMA leaders use to retain qualified mariners as educators aboard training vessels.

Problem Statement

Despite the quality of education received in SMA maritime degree programs and the earning potential of maritime employees (Gonzalez, Semjonovs, Bogdanecs, & Ozola, 2014), training facilities find it difficult to retain qualified mariners as educators onboard training vessels (Caesar, Cahoon, & Fei, 2014). The global shortage of international mariners has been estimated at over 40,000 and increasing (Berzins & Babare, 2013), and a shortage in 2025 has been predicted of nearly 9,000 U.S. mariners needed to navigate U.S. waterways (Maritime Administration [MARAD], 2015). The general business problem is the growing shortage of mariners, which pressures U.S. SMA leaders to find creative retention strategies that keep experienced mariners employed to train cadets about the safe navigation of maritime vessels at sea (MARAD, 2015). The specific business problem is that some SMA leaders lack successful strategies for retaining qualified mariners aboard training ships and fail to support the local maritime demands for skilled mariners.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to identify successful retention strategies that U.S. SMA leaders use to retain mariners aboard training ships. The target population was federal- and state-funded U.S. SMA leaders who use strategies to retain mariners aboard training vessels. The study can contribute to social change by providing mariners who train cadets at SMA with greater employment satisfaction and reducing the shortage of mariners on U.S. waterways. Retaining experienced mariners aboard training vessels may also make the job market more competitive for graduates seeking employment in the maritime industry because of the professional training received due to the successful retention strategies identified in this study.

Nature of the Study

There are three methods of empirical research: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Merriam, 2009). Qualitative research is an explorative thought process that allows participants to reveal their perspectives on situations they have experienced personally (Yilmaz, 2013). Quantitative methods require analytical processes to test hypotheses based on existing theories (Yilmaz, 2013). Mixed methods combine qualitative and quantitative methods in a complex research scenario (Morse & Niehaus,

2016). Quantitative and mixed methods were inappropriate for this study due to the exploratory nature of the research question, which did not involve testing hypotheses. The use of qualitative research in this study allowed for an investigation of the successful retention strategies used by SMA leaders. The identification of SMA retention strategies provided insight into how best to retain mariners on training vessels.

The three research designs possible for this qualitative study were (a) ethnographic, (b) phenomenological, and (c) case study. Ethnographic design involves a researcher who immersed in to a system to collect data by experiencing a phenomenon (Proudfoot, 2015). Exploring SMA leaders' understanding of successful retention strategies did not require submersion into the SMA operations to collect data through direct observation; hence, ethnographic design was not an appropriate method for this study. Phenomenological researchers interpret experiences of individuals related to a phenomenon (Rodham, Fox, & Doran, 2015). To answer the research question of this study did not require exploration of the perception of SMA leaders about a certain event. Rather it involved the identification of successful retention strategies used by SMA leaders that create possible best practices instead of a response to an event. Case study researchers collect data related to bounded systems to answer research questions (Ogidan & Lao, 2015; Yin, 2014). In this case study design for retaining mariners, the data exploration followed the purpose established in collecting data on various successful retention strategies used by leaders at SMA (a bounded system) to determine best practices for possible future use in other SMA in the nation. Therefore, a qualitative case study design was the best fit for the objective implied by the research question.

Research Question

The primary research question that guided this study was: What successful retention strategies do SMA leaders in the United States use to retain mariners aboard training ships?

Interview Questions

The following open-ended questions and similar questions used in the interviews of SMA leaders:

- What successful retention strategies do you employ to retain mariners on SMA training vessels?
- 2. What makes these strategies successful?
- 3. How do these successful strategies support the professional development of the mariners?
- 4. How do you use reward systems to engage mariners aboard training ships?
- 5. What strategies do you use to ensure mariners aboard training ships have what they need to perform their jobs?
- 6. What strategies do you use to improve transparency and trust the mariners aboard training ships?
- 7. What additional information, if any, would you like to share about successful retention strategies that you have not yet mentioned in this interview?

Conceptual Framework

The goal of this study was to identify successful retention strategies used by SMA to retain mariners and determine if they fit the intrinsic and extrinsic incentives for the

employee. Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory (ET) includes valence, instrumentality, and expectancy to identify factors that motivate employee job fulfillment into categories that are essential to employment inspiration. Vroom suggested in ET that the level of effort, performance, and reward influences an employee's decisions about workforce planning, motivation, and development. Furthermore, employment motivation requires continuous negotiation to maintain competitive employment skills (Herbert & Rothwell, 2016). Expanding job-gratification opportunities provides employers and employees with a more complete understanding of employee retention strategies (Choi & Whitford, 2016).

The use of ET as the conceptual framework for this study enabled changing the interpretation of the retention strategies used by SMA leaders into themes of motivation tactics for keeping experienced mariners at SMA. The use of motivation options, such as those suggested by Vroom (1964), Herbert and Rothwell (2016), and Choi and Whitford (2016), may help SMA leaders develop the best retention strategies based on other effective strategies. The information found in this study may link effort, performance, and rewards to better retention rates based on motivation. Business leaders, including SMA leaders, can support employees with policies based on best practices that improve retention and thus organizational productivity (Güss, Burger, & Dorner, 2017). The use of successful retention strategies may build stronger, sustainable, best practices to help SMA leaders meet an academy's retention objectives, train cadets aboard SMA training, and produce better quality mariners with the skills to perform effectively in the international maritime industry and find employment.

Definition of Terms

Expectancy: Expectancy, as used in the ET, is the employees' belief that their efforts will meet performance goals (Baraba-Sanchez & Atienza-Sahuquillo, 2017).

Instrumentality: Instrumentiality, as used in the ET, is the employees' rewards gained through meeting set performance goals (Baraba-Sanchez & Atienza-Sahuquillo, 2017).

Merchant mariner credential: The merchant mariner credential is a credential issued by the U.S. Coast Guard endorsing a mariner's qualifications, certificates, and service (Licensing of Maritime Personnel, 2016).

Training, Certification, and Watchkeeping Code: The training, certification and watchkeeping code refers to the training requirements of the IMO (part of United Nations 46 CFR 10.103; Licensing of Maritime Personnel, 2016).

Valence: Valence, as used in the ET, is the employee's satisfaction with the outcome of the performance goals (Baraba-Sanchez & Atienza-Sahuquillo, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

The merchant marine is a competitive and unique profession (Barsan, Surugiu, & Dragomir, 2012). Mariners have various backgrounds and training (Barsan et al., 2012; Caesar & Cahoon, 2015). Focusing on SMA leaders who oversee mariners aboard training vessels affects the study's assumptions, limitations, and delimitations.

Assumptions

In case studies, assumptions are the considerations that allow researchers to complete the data collection with inherent validation that the information used is correct

but not necessarily verified (Merriam, 2009). The basis for assumptions are expectations of truth by accepting historical, social, political, or cultural behavior that reflect honest and common practices during the research (Wolgemuth, Hicks, & Agosto, 2017). Assumptions are also parameters and practices at the time of the study that are considered true but not proven to be factual by a set process prior to the study (Liu, 2013).

The first assumption was that the participants would answer the interview questions truthfully and without bias regarding the successful strategies used to retain mariners. The second assumption was that questions and answers would fully represent current successful retention strategies employed by leaders at SMA. The third assumption was that the current successful retention strategies retain qualified mariners aboard training ships.

Limitations

Limitations in case studies are the possible weakness that could undermine the research (Yin, 2014). In this case study, the limitations related to the SMA leaders who oversee mariners aboard U.S. training ships. I could not control SMA leaders' level of honesty, understanding, or perception in their responses. I expected that the SMA leaders would seek clarification regarding the interview questions to provide accurate responses. Although the interviews of SMA leaders offered insights into best practices for retaining mariners aboard training ships, the selected interviewees might not have provided information about how to retain mariners at SMA or in commercial industries based on the mariners' interpretations of the imposed retention strategies.

Delimitations

Delimitations are boundaries that researchers set to increase a study's validity, focus the research question, and remove irrelevant subject matter (Siedlock & Hibbert, 2014). For example, Siedlock and Hibbert (2014) focused on SMA leaders' perceptions of mariners aboard training ships and did not include instructors or professors teaching maritime courses offered on shore in the academic portion of the SMA university degree programs. In the United States, there are six SMA and one federal academy funded by Maritime Administration that governs the training of mariners (MARAD, 2015). This study involved an investigation of only the SMA funded by MARAD.

Significance of the Study

The maritime industry transports most commodities globally (Mileski & von Zharen, 2014). Mariners use leadership skills to manage the operation and safely navigate vessels from port to port (Mori, 2014; Theotokas, Lagoudis, & Kotsiopoulos, 2014). The results of this study may lead to a positive change in business practices and a social change in strategies for retaining the most qualified U.S. mariners to educate future mariners in the practices of protecting crew, cargo, and vessels. Investing in retention strategies may retain skilled mariners at maritime training facilities.

Contribution to Business Practice

MARAD (2015) predicted there would be a shortage of nearly 9,000 U.S. mariners by 2025. Because there will not be enough mariners to operate ships, boats, and other waterborne vessels in the global trade industry, a shortage of mariners at training facilities has become a business problem for maritime training facilities (IMO, 2015). Maritime leaders, such as U.S. mariners, are necessary to diversify global trade and command vessels safely (Theotokas et al., 2014). Successful retention strategies affect the ability of SMA to keep experienced mariners to develop cadets' professional and personal skills.

Implications for Social Change

It is difficult for training facility leaders to find mariners with the leadership and maritime skills required to oversee cadets in higher education (Mori, 2014). Training could provide insight into the practical perspective of retaining mariners who improved trainees' understanding and expectations of the maritime industry (Caesar, Cahoon, & Fei, 2015). This might ease the shortage of mariners and create employment opportunities for mariners in the regional commercial trade. Investing resources in a qualified faculty might lead to a better pool of qualified instructors (Hargis & Gilbertson, 2015). SMA leaders could use the successful retention strategies to improve maritime training and provide competitive U.S. employment opportunities, which can benefit the local, regional, and the national economy. Retention of diverse mariners at SMA may increase future U.S. mariners' understanding of the safety, security, and regulatory concerns in the maritime industry. The U.S. maritime industry's added knowledge may result in safer navigation practices, enhanced situational awareness in emergencies, and an improved delivery service to consumers.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A literature review should cover recent topics, interests, and concerns in the current research to support future research (Ramdhani, Ramdhani, & Amin, 2014). The

literature review in this study focused on successful mariner retention strategies of SMA leaders in the United States. During the search for academic and scholarly literature, subject topics such as maritime education, maritime shortage, retention, employment satisfaction, and motivation were used to search Google Scholar, Walden's business databases, and Texas A&M Maritime Academy's Clipper Cat for supporting literature. The academic literature focused on other nations' mariners because U.S. merchant mariners are not the majority of mariners globally. There is limited research on retaining mariners in the United States.

The literature for this study includes over 150 sources. Of these 86.9% were peerreviewed and published since 2013, 5 years before the anticipated completion of this study. Having a requirement for more than 60 current, peer-reviewed sources ensures that the most recent findings and information are used. A literature review should also support the presence of a gap in a research area (Ramdhani et al., 2014). A systematic review of related topics by researchers on the shortage of mariners and the retention of qualified mariners to train future mariners supports research gaps regarding the retention options used to retain mariners, especially at SMA. The literature search also focused on ET and other theories on expectancy and motivation, integrating an understanding of mariners, training facilities, retention, recruiting, training, regulations, job satisfaction, and leadership as well as how this research can contribute to further study and exploration.

Vroom's Expectancy Theory

In 1964, Vroom investigated the relationship between employee efforts, performance, outcomes, satisfaction, and expectations of employment (Ray, 2016).

Limited resources and time govern the decisions that employees make to balance goals and expectations (Ballard, Yeo, Loft, Vancouver, & Neal, 2016). ET is about motivating employees toward goals (Kuvaas, Buch, Gagne, Dysvik, & Forest, 2016; Vroom, 1964). An organization should understand the value of recognizing employees who meet goals (Ray, 2016). ET has a measurement of valence, instrumentality, and expectancy levels to motivate employees (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996).

Valence provides the initial reward system that motivates employees to increase performance (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996). With multiple goals, not relating valence with outcomes reduces the value of the reward because other goal outcomes may have a higher value for the employee (Ballard et al., 2016). It could benefit SMA leaders to review their current goals and rewards to decide if the employee's efforts match their reward and goals. SMA leaders may need to balance a mariners' initial responsibility of being in charge of the vessel with their secondary duties of training the cadets aboard the training vessel. Additionally, the emotional orientation of the employees' personal beliefs must reflect the organization's outcome (Ray, 2016). Organizational leaders should use ET to align the expectations of employees with performance and motivation measurements (Ray, 2016). SMA leaders' balance between the organization and employee's needs can improve employee performance and increase their commitment to the mission of the institution.

The instrumentality of ET can be used to measure employees' perception of the desired level of performance that they should exert to achieve an outcome (Kuvaas et al., 2016). Tying an employee's performance to a reward leverages an improved outcome

without overcompensation for the goal or outcome (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996). If SMA leaders can determine acceptable motivation for compensation, they can improve retention and boost mariners' expected job satisfaction.

The last measurement of ET allows leaders to determine the level of performance needed to satisfy a goal (Ray, 2016). Expectancy is used to measure the likelihood of achieving a favorable outcome (Ballard et al., 2016). Financial compensation and other rewards maximizes employers' and employees' efforts and performance by increasing motivation through a combination of valence, instrumentality, and expectancy (Herbert & Rothwell, 2016). Thus, the retention strategies found in this study can promote a better work environment for mariners and improve the training atmosphere for cadets by leveraging the best expectancy practices.

ET has measurements that I used to categorize retention strategies that direct an employee's motivation toward valence, instrumentality, or expectancy about an outcome (Barbare-Sanchez & Atienza-Sahuquillo, 2017). Identifying SMA leaders' strategies for retaining mariners aboard training vessels can provide strategies for other SMA leaders. To build stronger retention strategies, SMA leaders can use motivational levels and expectancy of goals and outcomes currently practiced.

Other Expectancy and Motivation Theories

Multiple researchers have examined employee and organizational needs to reach goals (Kanfer & Chen, 2016). For example, Singhapong and Winley (2017) found that employees have both intrinsic and extrinsic needs for fulfilling job goals and an organizational mission. The following two conceptual theories are possible alternatives to those in this study if the research question were focused on specific motivations and expectations set by employees or an employer. The two conceptual theories closely related to ET are Maslow's hierarchy of needs and McGregor's theory of type X and type Y.

The hierarchy of Maslow's theory established an order of an individual's motivation that may not fit the complex motivational needs of all organizations (Jonas, 2016). SMA leaders should look at overall best practices and not fulfill one-dimensional needs. People's needs and wants vary over time (Jonas, 2016). Furthermore, Maslow's theory addresses employees' own needs rather than viewing them in relation to an organization or position in a department (Kanfer & Chen, 2016). Maslow's theory would not be beneficial to SMA leaders because the bounded system's mission would not provide incentives to all levels of employees aboard a training vessel. If leaders based best practices on only cognitive processes, it could create inaccuracy because not all perspectives would be represented (Güss et al., 2017). Because this was a study of a bounded system, as opposed to one of individual perspectives, Maslow's motivation theory was inappropriate for determining the best retention practices at SMA.

McGregor (1960) studied individual behaviors and manners in the workplace to find two distinguishing groups of workers: type X, who are opposed to work, and type Y, who are compelled to work. Bojadziev, Stefanovska-Petkovska, Handziski, and Barlakoska (2016) determined that all ages of employees prefer type Y leadership. Employees desire engaged leadership, which is important because it leads to motivation; but rigid oversight stifles innovation (Dharejo, Baloch, Jariko, & Jhatial, 2017). The literature on McGregor's human behavior theory has avoided a comprehensive analysis beyond two categories that generically view the performance behaviors of employees.

A comparison of Ouchi's theory Z (employee loyalty) and McGregor's X and Y theory led to the conclusion that distinct groupings did not fit 21st-century business operations and workforce perceptions (Aithal & Kumar, 2016). The complex role of a professional mariner and trainer aboard training ships creates a multifaceted work environment, which requires more in-depth understanding of both the motivation and expectation of employees. With this complexity in a training vessel's work environment, research on retaining mariners required a multidimensional approach to finding applicable data that can help create future best practices.

Overview of the Maritime Industry

Academic literature has a comprehensive analysis of the factors affecting mariner shortages and the issues that discourage prospective mariners from maintaining a life at sea. However, the literature does not include the retention issues facing merchant mariners in the United States (MARAD, 2015). Three quarters of all the global trade in commodities is done by sea (IMO, 2015), and mariners must have strong skills to safely navigate seagoing vessels (Licensing of Maritime Personnel, 2016) and protect oceans and navigable waterways (Diggs, 2014; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2013). The need for qualified mariners has led to more government regulations and more required maritime training to provide the industry with knowledgeable mariners (Saeed et al., 2016). Changes in regulations and training periods can result in a fluctuation in the number of qualified mariners (Chambers & Main, 2016). For instance, the shortage of mariners is partly due to new, stringent training regulations, which cause a delay in employment placement (Kahveci, Lillie, & Chaumette, 2011). This training delay may exacerbate the mariner shortage and affect the U.S. economy (MARAD, 2015).

Various government data does not provide a comprehensive plan for how businesses can retain U.S. merchant mariners or resolve the need to improve the quality of mariners who meet international standards, address the implications of technological advances, and overcome the multicultural gaps in the maritime industry (Gerganov, 2014; Madariaga Dominguez et al., 2014; Okonna, Ushie, & Okworo, 2014). Mariners' knowledge can be improved by initiating professional development at vocational high schools, which can enable mariners to perform at a higher level, improve their skills, and acquaint them with the technology required for safe navigation (Farias & Sevilla, 2015). Exposing prospective mariners to the industry early is a recruiting tactic that alleviates the shortage of mariners; however, early training does not focus on retaining mariners once they join the profession.

The United States currently sets requirements for mariners aboard U.S. vessels and inspects the standard operations of vessels entering the United States, as well as mariners traveling U.S. waterways, per the Jones Act (Hengen, 2013). The Baltic and International Maritime Council and International Shipping Federation, the two major international shipping groups, identified a worldwide mariner shortage of approximately 46,000 in 2010. If the United States does not address the shortage of qualified mariners to crew vessels covered by the Jones Act, the economy may suffer because U.S. vessels will be unable to deliver cargo. The unfilled positions aboard Jones Act vessels may create a competitive market that could limit the availability of mariners to crew educational training facilities like SMA training ships (Caesar et al., 2014). As a result, the U.S. maritime industry may need to turn to poorly trained foreign mariners whom U.S. governing bodies do not regulate as an alternative for crewing vessels in U.S. trade. This shift to cheaper labor may increase security risks and endanger waterways. Without well-trained merchant mariners, the cargo-sustaining global trade may not move as efficiently. Merchant mariners are the working ambassadors of the world, traveling from port to port and experiencing various cultures, international practices, and differences that can create a stressful work environment (Rengamani & Charith, 2015).

Various Perspectives of the Merchant Marine

Many people are unaware of the daily activities of mariners that isolate them from their family and home life (Papachristou, Stantchev, & Theotokas, 2015). Conrad, Melville, Patrick O'Brien, Rudyard Kipling, Richard Henry Dana, and Robert Louis Stevenson, who have romanticized maritime life and experiences through nautical fiction (Berzins & Barbare, 2013; Kennerley, 2014), may mislead people regarding the role and importance of merchant mariners (Kennerley, 2014). These writings may also discourage many from pursuing the mariner lifestyle and disengage the maritime industry from the globalization of goods transportation (Kennerley, 2014). Maritime regulatory bodies further influence the public perception of the maritime industry (Berzins & Barbare, 2013). This disconnect could contribute to the global shortage of mariners. Research on life aboard ships, such as small crews and isolation, does not represent the reality of the profession. Research into human factors may lead to better retention strategies. Mariners' misunderstood lifestyle creates confusion about how regulations affect mariners at sea. The IMO's oversight of treaties between multiple nations has created a safer marine environment, greater maritime security, and a global balance (Chan, Hamid, & Mokhtar, 2016). Further, the public misinterprets mariner lifestyles because mariners often encounter acts of nature beyond their control, such as hurricanes, which damage cargo or cause loss of life at sea and lead to possible criminal charges. Seafarers' Rights International (2013) found that 8.3% of mariners they surveyed had faced criminal charges. Although the authorities dismissed 67% of those charges, few mariners had any legal representation from their company or nation.

To counteract the view of the maritime industry from fiction, the Maritime Labour Convention prioritized improving the quality of life onboard vessels to enhance mariners' well-being (Progoulaki, Katradi, & Theotokas, 2014). For example, Progoulaki et al. (2014) found communication with loved ones important in maintaining mariners' welfare and well-being. Changes that improve living onboard vessels may provide a positive work environment and assist in retaining mariners in the industry.

Maritime Regulations and Requirements

The IMO supports ongoing changes and regulatory policies that influence life and the strenuous working environment at sea, interpret regulations, and address at international conventions the human factors in maritime accidents (Schröder-Hinrichs, Hollnagel, Baldauf, Hofmann, & Kataria, 2013). Some researchers have stated that globalization encourages sociolegal negotiations (Sampson, Walters, James, & Wadsworth, 2014). Over the past century, leading maritime nations have shifted from controlling nationally owned and crewed vessels to reflagging vessels and employing mariners from less-developed nations to avoid the high cost of operating seafaring vessels (Kahveci et al., 2011).

The IMO implemented the Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping (STCW) during its first convention in 1978. Since then, the IMO has addressed mariner safety and security on vessels, technological advances in navigation and ship systems, pollution, and onboard management techniques to improve global standards for mariners, all of which require mariners to possess a considerable amount of knowledge, understanding, and proficiency (Gerganov, 2014; Madariaga Dominguez et al., 2014). Additionally, the STCW Manila 2010 amendments stress mariners' responsibility for understanding maritime law (Petrinović, Mandić, & Siriščević, 2016). The regulatory amendments require mariners to understand the legal interactions of shipping, which may obligate mariners to act on their employers' behalf without support if the regulating bodies are in dispute. However, mariner training requirements do not include learning various global regulations (Petrinović et al., 2016).

An early concern about global safety was navigation rules. Navigation regulation tends to be a recognized issue based on various interpretations of the wording in documents and data presentation (Eftychiou & Dowell, 2013). Mariners must follow prescribed International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea (COLREGS; Szlapczynska, 2015). But the lack of standard training and comprehension of COLREGS makes maritime operations difficult for mariners and leaves interpretation of COLREGS to the individual. By researching cadets' ability to determine the use of COLREGS to avoid collisions with enhanced training simulating typical scenarios and electronic training providing consistent training methods (Mohovic, Mohovic, & Baric, 2016), the standardization of training could help retain mariners at training facilities.

Shortage of Mariners

There are many explanations in the literature for the mariner shortage but little insight and academic research on mariners onboard training vessels. The maritime profession requires that workers undergo rigorous training and teaches mariners various global regulations. Numerous barriers discourage new workers in an industry and can lead to an aging workforce. Davy and Noh (2012) suggested addressing the shortage by improving the image of the mariner, fostering employee satisfaction, and identifying qualities that could increase retention and reduce turnover. The absence of mariner perspectives in maritime research on retention hampers the reliability of statistics, and interpretations have lacked the direct representation of the mariner perspective. Mariners are moving throughout the world as the maritime industry struggles to find suitable rewards to offset the sacrifices that the lifestyle demands. Despite the industry's efforts, the mariner shortage is increasing (Caesar & Cahoon, 2015).

European and Canadian governmental agencies have researched the decline in the labor force and found concern about the rapid increase in demand for officers in the maritime field (Kahveci et al., 2011). Maritime leadership is becoming more safety oriented. Licensed officers onboard vessels create a shipboard culture that protects mariners, cargo, and the environment to increase shore-side maritime leadership of a safety culture (Borgersen, Hystad, Larsson, & Eid, 2013). Fluctuations in regulation and training requirements may obstruct recruitment and retention of qualified mariners. A decline in the qualified mariner population may adversely affect professional groups and maritime clusters; both require skilled individuals to support the goals of the IMO, maritime nations, and mariners (Kahveci et al., 2011). Professional groups and maritime clusters require skilled individuals who support the goals of the IMO, maritime nations, and mariners.

Some researchers have blamed the mariner shortage on the lack of recruitment and training over the past few decades (Kahveci et al., 2011). Less recruitment has increased the average age of mariners, creating a mariner generation gap that results in a loss of skills and knowledge in the maritime industry (Kahveci et al., 2011). The need to replace aging mariners fuels the shortage of mariners (Leggate, 2004). An inability to retain seasoned mariners to navigate and teach aboard vessels may affect maritime safety and knowledge standards (Caesar & Cahoon, 2015).

As regulations change and require more training, many older mariners choose to retire rather than complete additional training. This leaves the younger generation without professional mentors to oversee their development. The loss of workforce mentors means that training facilities must develop competent mariners for the maritime industry. This requires that maritime institutions invest in strategic enrollment plans and select applicants who understand the expectations of the job in regards to vessel operations and safety while focusing on the maritime culture (Caesar & Cahoon, 2015). The current literature has not analyzed training facilities as mentor providers or explored how SMA leaders could increase the quality of future mariners by retaining seasoned and skilled mariners aboard training vessels to train and groom future licensed officers.

Maritime Training Facilities

Educational facilities increase the number of prospective employees by providing them skills and knowledge. Research in education has shown graduates from baccalaureate programs provide the maritime industry with mariners who possess the required skills (Khairullina et al., 2015). With the increased training and assessment requirements and the advanced technology onboard seagoing vessels in the maritime industry, higher education should be a fundamental way to deliver the knowledge, understanding, and proficiency needed to be a mariner (Gerganov, 2014). Maritime training facilities may use a variety of methods to deliver knowledge and prove proficiencies.

Online and blended learning—face-to-face and technology-mediated instruction—is in demand and approved by STCW 2010 amendments (Madariaga Dominguez et al., 2014; Okonna et al., 2014; Porter, Graham, Spring, & Welch, 2014). The global maritime industry should seek such diverse alternatives for educating mariners. Diversity in education provides employees an opportunity to experience various cultures, strengthen strategic plans and goals, and enhances the campus community (Hughes, 2015). The use of diverse, modern educational facilities may provide SMA with the essentials they need to produce quality mariners.

Extensive research into recruiting and retaining qualified teachers in elementary, secondary, and postsecondary schools has focused on engaging younger generations

(Ljung & Widell, 2014). Many nations are researching how vocational and applied education fits into an undergraduate education (Khairullina et al., 2015). Khairullina et al. found that an undergraduate education that incorporates vocational skills provides graduates with work skills and uses continuing education to develop the skills needed by the maritime industry.

The concept of enhanced education could fit with SMA leaders' efforts to graduate the best mariners. Educational leaders often struggle to balance instructional quality, cost of instruction, campus and maritime culture, reward systems, and accountability (Painter & Clark, 2015). Development of mariners' teaching skills may encourage employment in education. Faculty development might be possible through structured collaboration among faculty members, which could improve the quality of education (Painter & Clark, 2015). Successful faculty development involves educators early on in the common educational practices (Painter & Clark, 2015). The development of education (Hoekstra & Crocker, 2015). The leaders at the University of the Pacific built their Faculty Center for Teaching and Learning to help teachers develop their teaching, learning, and scholarly skills (Hargis & Gilbertson, 2015). SMA leaders may wish to implement endeavors to increase trainers' involvement and improve their educational skills to help recruit and retain mariners onboard training ships.

Maritime Industry Recruitment

Organizational leaders should consider a mix of employee perceptions of employment to create diversification and acceptance within the organization. Employee perceptions of the company ease the application process; the combination of organizational support and job advancement, skilled management, and attractive compensation packages help determine whether an employee joins an organization (Auger, Devinney, Dowling, Eckert, & Lin, 2013). Challenges in recruiting qualified mariners might contribute to the unavailability of practical training, blind spots in public awareness, and insufficient support when advancing entry-level employees to higher positions (Kahveci et al., 2011).

Many employees find companies with a strong sense of social responsibility more attractive, though this is not the leading reason for seeking employment (Auger et al., 2013). With long periods away from home required, mariners are interested in rotations that allow for equal time off and possibly shorter rotations. Mariners seeking employment at an organization require a balance of financial compensation and time demands (Auger et al., 2013).

Maritime organizations need to formulate recruiting tactics that identify potential employees with skills that align with the organization's goals (Davy & Noh, 2012). Caesar and Cahoon (2015) indicated that maritime training institutions must meet the expectations of applicants. Diversifying the applicant pool might be a solution to increasing the number of mariners in training.

Diversity can expand the knowledge required to manage new technology as well as decrease turnover and increase retention. The technological advancements in the maritime industry have primarily been in the areas of safety and communications (Davy & Noh, 2012), and women are capable of learning this technology as men (Okonna et al., 2014). Technological advances provide opportunities for employees who have fewer traditionally "masculine" traits that mariners once had to demonstrate to complete cargo operations aboard seagoing vessels. When the expectations of new mariners become apparent to maritime leaders, maritime training institutions can create successful retention strategies to inspire maritime professionals to seek employment opportunities other than traditional commercial maritime positions (Caesar & Cahoon, 2015).

Maritime Industry Retention

Kim, Song, and Lee (2016) found that company leaders who have positive performance standards in corporate social responsibility are able to increase organizational commitment and improve turnover rates. When used by an organization's leaders, forms of corporate social responsibility such as providing benefits and monitoring the corporate culture increase positive outcomes for all stakeholders, including employees (Lu, 2016). Company leaders need to create positive opportunities within their organizations (Xu, Loi, & Ngo, 2016).

Business leaders should understand their responsibility for the factors that contribute to the retention of their employees, increase morale, improve productivity, and promote the company's image (Slack, Corlett, & Morris, 2015). Leadership can factor into the employee-company relationship by producing a positive work environment. Employees find that good leadership empowers employees on the job, enhances their job performance, and increases job satisfaction (Wong & Laschinger, 2013).

Mileski and von Zharen (2014) stated that employees categorizes their satisfaction according to the Wealth, Appreciation, Respect, and Sacrifice (WARS) model. Caesar et al. (2015) conducted research that included the job satisfaction of mariners as well as the opportunities available for them to shift to shore duties to maintain maritime knowledge in the industry. The approach of WARS aligns with multiple studies on motivation theories incorporated into ET supporting a broader understanding of retention strategies (Barbare-Sanchez & Atienza-Sahuquillo, 2017; Herbert & Rothwell, 2016; Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996). Research found in the current literature on the marketing of employment opportunities may provide insight on how to increase job satisfaction. Alternate maritime opportunities may improve retention, which in turn may improve safety at sea by allowing seasoned mariners to train other upcoming mariners on the best current practices in the maritime industry onboard SMA training vessels.

The shortage of U.S. mariners might encourage foreign trade to forego business aboard U.S. vessels and avoid the high cost of training U.S. mariners (Kumar, 2015). The Jones Act protects the operation of U.S. vessels and offers secure employment for U.S. mariners in the international trade. These nationally protected job opportunities may be more favorable than working at government-operated SMA and could negatively influence retention of mariners at SMA.

Employment Marketing and Alternate Resources

Many nations acknowledge that there is a shortage of qualified mariners and have launched retention efforts to improve education in the maritime industry. In 2008, the IMO (2015) campaigned to attract more potential mariners. The European Commission initiated their Youth4JOB program to promote the maritime industry and increase the labor pool (Berzins & Barbare, 2013). **Youth.** The maritime industry has increased its use of technology (Davy & Noh, 2012). Attracting young people with advanced technical skills would minimize the additional training requirements for mariners to be prepared to work aboard SMA training ships. Some researchers believe the need for technologically skilled mariners will continue to increase (Kahveci et al., 2011).

Recruiting and training younger mariners may increase the mariner population and develop the advanced skills now needed to operate vessels in confined waterways, near coasts, and over oceans. Berzins and Barbare (2013) found that younger workers look for employment that provides solid economic support, is socially acceptable to others, and is psychologically stimulating. Many youth find the high compensation of the maritime industry attractive. Younger generations, however, have little knowledge of the opportunities within the industry (Guest, Lotze, & Wallace, 2015). This creates challenges for attracting young people to the maritime industry. To counter this, the industry should focus on increasing public awareness. Maritime trainers must relay the merits and opportunities of being a maritime professional for the younger generation (Berzins & Barbare, 2013).

Globalizing mariner employment. Ten countries account for 56% of all mariners working today; unfortunately, the United States is not one of them (Leggate, 2004). Although many nations are considering introducing a new maritime culture to their workforce, the U.S. maritime culture needs to understand and determine where the workforce stands within its merchant maritime fleet. Canada and the European Union have initiated recruiting, training, and retention efforts to ensure safe waterways and employment opportunities for their populations (Kahveci et al., 2011). Knowing what mariners find essential should help SMA leaders create compensation and promotion packages to retain U.S. mariners aboard vessels. Factors that influence mariner retention include lifestyle conditions, such as lack of company support for mariners' families (Baylon & Santos, 2015); health hazards, which burden coworkers and owners (Lefkowitz, Slade, & Redlich, 2015a); gender and cultural discrimination (Stevenson, 2015); and legal or regulatory issues, such as piracy (Kunza & Mileski, 2013). Maritime researchers have found areas of deficiency that may contribute to the shortage of qualified mariners and the high turnover rates in the industry.

Gender. The maritime industry is perceived as a demanding, masculine professional field that requires an extensive understanding of regulatory requirements and advanced technology (Gerganov, 2014). The maritime industry offers job opportunities through professional societies and mentoring programs that may support underrepresented groups (Gerganov, 2014; Mitroussi & Notteboom, 2015; Okonna et al., 2014). Technology is increasing opportunities for women to overcome the perceived gender barriers of the maritime industry. SMA leaders should explore diversifying marketing strategies toward applicants to improve retention. The recruitment of women is another way to increase the number of mariners needed in the future (Magramo & Eler, 2012).

Employment Motivation Themes

The literature on employee values and work atmospheres has shown that many leaders and employees have similar ideas of what should be found in the workplace (Sageer, Rafat, & Agarwal, 2012; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011). Corporate social responsibility is becoming more important for all stakeholders and affects the value of employment in an organization (Slack et al., 2015). Business leaders need to consider social opportunities that increase retention and adopt the best leadership practices to maintain a positive work environment (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011). Anik, Aknin, Norton, Dunn, and Quoidbach (2013) found that over the past 2 decades, more people have expressed dissatisfaction with work even as they spend more hours on the job. These trends illustrate how workers need to be part of an organization with corporate social responsibility and seek more job satisfaction to improve the balance. Anik et al. (2013) suggested prosocial corporate interaction might substitute for or balance the need for job satisfaction.

Categorizing what employees find valuable is a step toward developing best practices. Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2011) presented motivation, feelings of belonging, emotional fulfillment, and satisfaction as reasons for teachers to continue working at their current learning institution. Research in Macedonia found that employees weighed the ability to cope with their work environment, monetary payment, and demographic variables as determinants of job satisfaction (Sardžoska & Tang, 2012). The WARS model provides an outline of employee satisfaction themes that motivate mariners (Mileski & von Zharen, 2014). Incorporating the various motivation themes from other motivation research aligns WARS with the common needs of employees (Mileski & von Zharen, 2014; Ray, 2016). Mileski and von Zharen created the WARS model to quantify the primary areas that influence mariner recruitment and retention in the maritime industry: wealth and compensation, appreciation and recognition, risks of the employment position, and sacrifice needed for job satisfaction.

Mariner Wealth and Compensation

Financial compensation is a major aspect of motivation for employees that does not always support their psychological needs (Kuvaas et al., 2016). Many select the maritime field for its job opportunities and monetary rewards (Davy & Noh, 2012). Mariners' compensation for their work is very high in leading nations (Kahveci et al., 2011). Maritime leaders at many shipping companies take advantage of the global labor pool by selecting the cheapest workers (Kahveci et al., 2011), but the selection of lowwage employees might sacrifice safety by employing inferior workers. Some nations have incorporated a tonnage tax or other tax exemptions to offset the competition (Kahveci et al., 2011).

Mitroussi and Notteboom (2015) found mariners weighed both extrinsic motivators (e.g., base wages, bonuses, merits, advancement opportunities) and intrinsic motivators (e.g., relationships between coworkers and employers, autonomous work environment, employee goals and skills, security of employment) when selecting job opportunities. Thus, monetary compensation is not the only factor when employees consider their job satisfaction (Sageer et al., 2012). In fact, Choi and Whitford (2016) found some employees who receive merit-based pay are less satisfied with their jobs. They learned that many merit-based pay positions (e.g., in government agencies) can generate or limit competition because of constraints that ultimately decrease employee job satisfaction. Merit opportunities could encourage employees to advance through training or skill-building opportunities. Burgard and Görlitz (2014) researched the correlation between gender and training to increase job satisfaction and found men to be more satisfied with job training than women, which suggests an alternative for one gender. Maritime industry leaders may find that mariners in this male-dominated field may accept training as an alternative to financial compensation.

Mariner Appreciation and Recognition

Kim, Song, and Lee (2016) determined that if a corporate culture does not provide enough positive feedback and appreciation for hard work, employees feel expendable. The lack of corporate support from top to bottom in an organization may decrease employee work ethics. Kuvaas et al. (2016) suggested that organizations should recognize and value education and employee development. In the maritime industry, 80– 90% of accidents occur because of human error (Barsan et al., 2012). The lowered expectations of both employees and employers could lead to increased regulation. Employees also feel overwhelmed by stricter regulations and their own lack of training in the skills needed to perform their jobs. Codification of areas of navigation and bridge resource management identifies tactics that can reduce human error (Graziano, Teixeira, & Soares, 2016). Reviewing the performance standards of mariners helps identify incident avoidance measures needed to navigate a vessel.

Many nations do not have training and certification programs or lack the economic means to enforce the maritime industry's costly training requirements (Kahveci et al., 2011). The United States should promote a higher standard of training through SMA that offer appreciation to the maritime industry and regulated by the U.S. Coast Guard and MARAD (MARAD, 2015) to protect the environment, cargoes, and crewmembers.

One technique that maritime leaders can use to attract and retain mariners is to implement training programs to keep mariners competitive in the industry (Barsan et al., 2012). Organizations could pay for the training mariners need to meet the newest STCW 2010 requirements, including electronic chart display information systems courses, leadership and managerial skills courses, and engine room resource management courses (IMO, 2015; Madariaga Dominguez et al., 2014). This would create a professional ladder that would bestow recognition and proof of appreciation upon both entry-level and experienced mariners. Proof of fair and accurate appreciation is often apparent in job, pay, and organizational satisfaction (Choi & Whitford, 2016). Maritime organizations should develop successful retention strategies to demonstrate recognition and appreciation, which will increase retention and curtail unfavorable behavior.

Criminalization. Fitzpatrick (2015) reflected on the disparities between national laws and the IMO regulations that make mariners responsible for all legal actions of the crew and the vessel's owner. The risk mariners' bear typically goes unnoticed until a major accident occurs (Fitzpatrick, 2015). Global lawyers who represent industries uphold social, cultural, and political boundaries and determine the accountability of people who commit legal infractions (Darian-Smith, 2015). Under current rules, licensed officers are liable for criminal actions that can result in incarceration and fines, even if that criminal action is due to the negligence of a crewmember or the vessel owner

(Fitzpatrick, 2015). These stringent consequences demand that mariners be professional and recognize how their actions may affect them in the future (Kim & Kim, 2013).

Professional organizations. The maritime field is a global industry. The Baltic and International Maritime Council (2015) is an international shipping association with over 2,000 members that assists maritime agencies with guidance and information to increase standardization and equality in the maritime industry. The International Shipping Federation and Baltic and International Maritime Council monitor raw statistical data from vessels crewed by mariners from various nations (Kahveci et al., 2011). Most nations train mariners to earn credentials in their own nation, but in practice mariners often sail under the flag of another nation (Kahveci et al., 2011).

Globally, there are many mentoring societies—or maritime clusters—to help mariners understand activities within the maritime industry. These maritime clusters unify maritime companies, governments, educators, trainers, and individuals in an infrastructure that supports maritime goals (Kahveci et al., 2011). Lister (2015) found that a response to global trends that balances the concerns of governments, corporations, and shippers—if appropriately overseen by all stakeholders—provides an opportunity for progressive regulations to modify industry practices for the common good.

Maritime education and training facilities have the opportunity to select and mentor entry-level mariners by creating curricula that reflect industry needs (Davy & Noh, 2012). Research has found a lack of support for leadership development in maritime education and training facilities (Haughton, 2012). There may be possibilities for showing appreciation and recognition at SMA by developing mentoring programs and encouraging interaction among professional organizations in both the maritime industry and the education field for upcoming SMA leaders. Research has shown that authentic leadership provides the highest morale, which in turn leads to a supportive work environment that promotes positive behavior (Morton, 2012; Wong & Laschinger, 2013). A supportive work environment might help maritime stakeholders develop mentoring programs to improve employee satisfaction.

Maritime Employment Risk

Employees need a sense of security and stabilization based on their risk tolerance (Ballard et al., 2016; Nyberg, Pieper, & Trevor, 2014; Ray, 2016). The maritime industry exposes mariners to high levels of risk due to human error such as fatigue or failures in situational awareness or assessment (Davy & Noh, 2012; Peplińska, Jeżewska, Leszczyńska, & Połomski, 2014). Illness and injury at sea may lead to lost work or restrictions in operations (Lefkowitz et al., 2015a) and can make it difficult to balance a mariner's occupation with family, purpose, and satisfaction (Peplińska et al., 2014). Many on-the-job risks are not apparent or fully understood by mariners when they consider their employment options. Some of these risks include exposure to dangerous cargo or work environments, piracy, and criminalization. The need for safety is a noticeable pressure in the maritime industry (Davy & Noh, 2012).

Health. Current discussions at industry conferences and forums highlight safety concerns and the need for qualified crews (Davy & Noh, 2012). However, the globalization of maritime transportation also exposes mariners to various infectious diseases, a higher-than-average fatality rate, and limited access to medical facilities in

remote locations (Lefkowitz et al., 2015a). Maritime leaders should increase industry medical standards for merchant marine health care needs. Mariners do not have easy access to proper medical care while at sea, and delayed medical care may lead to further complications.

Researchers recognize that the maritime industry is an emotionally and mentally stressful occupation (Slišković & Penezić, 2015). The maritime industry is also physically demanding for mariners. Researchers have found that back injuries and gastrointestinal illness are the primary reasons for repatriation (Lefkowitz, Slade, & Redlich, 2015b). With the high levels of stress and absence from home, mariners could feel removed from society. The lack of acknowledgement about a mariner's perception becomes apparent when researchers consider mariners as alcoholics and drug addicts in a profession subjected to fatigue and isolation (Pougnet et al., 2014).

Legal counsel. Admiralty, or maritime law, predates the U.S. Constitution. Jurisdiction of the various admiralty laws, which also apply to certain nonmaritime areas, is complex and lacks uniformity, which creates difficulty for jurists in reaching a decision (Powell, 2015). Qualified legal representation is required to interpret maritime regulations to avoid unforeseen outcomes (Zeiger, 2016). The various maritime governing bodies include the IMO for safety upon the waters, the national governing body of the vessel, the governing body of the location where the vessel transits waterways, and the International Labour Organization (ILO) for crew members.

The ILO Maritime Labour Convention of 2006 is the "fourth pillar" that enforces regulations regarding baseline working and living standards for mariners (Piniella, Silos,

& Bernal, 2013). This organization provides possible solutions for improving the work environment and increasing retention while empowering mariners. For example, unions like the ILO provide laborers with regulatory protection from poor work environments (Mitroussi & Notteboom, 2015).

Mariner Sacrifice and Job Satisfaction

The maritime industry offers training and skill advancement opportunities aboard ships, in marine education facilities, and on shore. The tactical approach to overcome sacrifice (valence and instrumentality) and job satisfaction (expectation) is apparent for employees when they attempt to achieve multiple goals and job satisfaction (Ballard et. al, 2016; Nyberg et al., 2014). Davy and Noh (2012) suggested that current generations in the mariner workforce might consider changing jobs if they are not satisfied. Mariners with unmet needs may leave the industry. Training mariners to work shore-based positions could be a tactic the maritime industry can use to preserve maritime knowledge and entice mariners to stay in the industry (Kahveci et al., 2011).

Leadership can actively promote a positive work environment. Upcoming mariners must understand the isolated nature of maritime work and the resulting need for teamwork (Davy & Noh, 2012). Maritime organizations should consider increasing job satisfaction by improving the work environment, offering training, and improving leadership (Sageer et al., 2012).

Researchers have found a correlation between authentic (or transformational) leadership and job satisfaction (Batista-Taran, Shuck, Gutierrez, & Baralt, 2013; Morton, 2012). Positive feedback from employees has demonstrated that authentic leadership encourages reports of possible wrongdoing, increases productivity, and protects organization (Liu, Liao, & Wei, 2015). To further employee empowerment, transformational leaders should provide motivation and encouragement for teams to meet above-average expectations (Dust, Resick, & Mawritz, 2014). The increase in ethical behavior motivates job satisfaction through the creation of a safe working environment (Gatling & Harrah, 2014). Maritime leaders might offer remuneration in altering leadership styles for SMA leaders and mariners by adopting a more authentic leadership style to address the industry's problems. One perception of the maritime industry is that of a predominantly male culture operating in harsh conditions (Mitroussi & Notteboom, 2015). Because of concerns about recruiting and retention, the maritime industry is encouraged to reinvent itself as a satisfying occupation with a positive, socially promising work environment (Mitroussi & Notteboom, 2015).

Industry traits. For many people, selecting an appropriate field of employment requires some categorization of traits, one of which is that the maritime industry is a male-dominated field (Okonna et al., 2014). In an attempt to improve the working environment, organizations such as the International Maritime Health Association, International Seafarers' Welfare and Assistance Network, International Transport Workers' Federation, and Seafarers Hospital Society have researched options for improving the health and welfare of women aboard vessels (Stannard et al., 2015). Leading organizations, such as the IMO's Women in Development Programme, have created outreach programs to attract a larger pool of applicants by presenting the maritime industry as an equal-opportunity environment (Grant & Grant, 2015; Stannard et al., 2015). A merchant marine officer must understand navigation, cargo operations, vessel safety and security, human resources, documentation requirements, cargo handling, and global business. There is no research readily available on the documentation and business operations that merchant marine officers must complete. The research on vessel operations has mostly focused on navigation techniques used to transit inland waterways, coastal areas, and the open ocean.

Piracy. Pirate attacks tend to increase around nations that lack effective countermeasures (Daxecker & Prins, 2015). In 2004, there were more than 2,600 pirate attacks (Daxecker & Prins, 2015). Bands of pirates find economic relief by attacking vessels in areas with little regulatory and military support (Daxecker & Prins, 2015; Ghosh, 2014). Researchers have focused on the economic and financial loss caused by piracy (Daxecker & Prins, 2015) and strategies for surviving attacks (Kunza & Mileski, 2013). Piracy has become more violent, and military intervention has increased (Chong, Jiang, & Chow, 2015). Mariners in distress must rely on local countries to provide assistance (Chong et al., 2015).

Opportunities for the Merchant Marine

In the 1990s, the global maritime industry showed a 3.5% increase in seaborne trade and a 2.8% increase in the demand for mariners (Leggate, 2004). The increasing demand for commodities throughout the world provides concrete employment opportunities for mariners who satisfy the necessary education and training requirements. The increasing demand for transportation requires an understanding of a mariner's social responsibility to the global environment. Mariners throughout the world often combine forces for social and environmental protection of both themselves and local waterways through the auspices of organizations like the International Transport Workers' Federation, IMO, and ILO (Madariaga Dominguez et al., 2014; Okonna et al., 2014; Stannard et al., 2015).

Mariners obey multiple international and national regulatory standards. The tightening of regulatory requirements by government agencies creates a strong bond between ship and shore with regard to management responsibilities for environmental safety (Kahveci et al., 2011). If mariners have the opportunity to shift from ship to shore-based duties, this opportunity is a beneficial recruiting strategy for educational facilities that train mariners as ship operators in the technological and management skills they will use in daily operations (Ljung & Widell, 2014). Operating a vessel provides opportunities for mariners with financial support, social recognition that they are part of international trade, and stimulation for personal and professional growth (Berzins & Barbare, 2013).

Institutions like South Seattle College are also finding that initial training in maritime subject matter improves retention in maritime leadership positions or supervisory positions in logistics and transportation, which are rapidly growing areas of employment (Grobe, Martin, & Steinberg, 2015). Leadership and supervisory positions offer employment and advancement opportunities that are appealing to some mariners. In Europe, approximately 12% of shore-based maritime jobs require merchant mariner experience (Kahveci et al., 2011). Maritime industry leaders are noticing a need for a higher quality of mariners in these positions; shipboard experience alone does not prepare mariners for leadership roles. Other researchers have compared national maritime labor with various industrial areas (e.g., mining, tourism) to determine the value of balancing human capital in a given nation (Purba, 2015). Most of these studies have focused on economic solutions to decrease the cost of crewing. Reductions in crew cost, however, will not alleviate the shortage of mariners (IMO, 2015).

The lack of marketing techniques for retaining mariners is noticeable in the literature and research on the areas of lifestyle, education, and opportunities. Many countries support the IMO's efforts to improve the safety, security, skill level, and humanitarian treatment of mariners through regulatory requirements set by international conventions. Mariners subjected to the burdens of maintaining and implementing regulations do not seem to influence the decisions of managers, who instead tend to focus on cutting operating costs by reducing staff and finding cheaper international labor.

Maritime Education and Training of Mariners

The skills a mariner must obtain cover several areas of knowledge: navigation, firefighting, medical care, cargo handling, and management. Maritime education and training provide knowledge, understanding, and proficiency through theoretical and practical assessment; mariners earn their merchant credentials through a combination of on-shore and onboard exercises (Haughton, 2012; Kim & Kim, 2013). The IMO, a United Nations agency, sets minimum standards for the world's shipping industry in the areas of training, safety, pollution prevention, and operations (Kahveci et al., 2011). These international guidelines were first adopted under the STWC in 1978, then amended

in 1995 and 2010, with the aim of minimizing maritime incidents or accidents (Ghosh, Bowles, Ranmuthugala, & Brooks, 2014; IMO, 2015; Kahveci et al., 2011).

The STCW enforces high-level training requirements for entry-level mariners in both the practical and theoretical knowledge needed to work on vessels (Kim & Kim, 2013; Madariaga Dominguez et al., 2014). During their introductory period, entry-level mariners can meet the national and international standards of knowledge assessment and proficiency through a combination of college courses and shipboard training (Ghosh et al., 2014). The formalization of mariner training and education ensures that entry-level mariners meet the highest industry demands (Davy & Noh, 2012). Davy and Noh (2012) stated that training academies such as SMA could help improve the quality of mariners by identifying the most suitable candidates and grooming them for the maritime industry. The previously used WARS themes relate to mariner motivation and could support ET of effort, performance, and rewards, as described above.

Summary

The IMO (2015) reported it anticipates an international shortage of mariners. The maritime industry can improve the quality of mariners through training at specialized training academies (Davy & Noh, 2012). There are six SMA and one federal maritime academy in the United States that provide a bachelor of science and master's degrees with an unlimited deck or engine officers' license to work in the U.S. Merchant Marine (MARAD, 2015). Combining the issues of the shortage of qualified mariners and the training of qualified mariners presents an area not directly represented in the academic literature in the United States.

Research can help further determine successful retention strategies for retaining quality mariners to teach maritime education and training, and successful strategies can help the maritime industry overcome its mariner shortage. If SMA educators train people who are unwilling to invest the time to become mariners, then the need for new mariners will persist; the costly education and training cease creating interchange skills for when students change occupations (Davy & Noh, 2012). SMA leaders train mariners aboard waterborne vessels while providing them a college education. This varies from commercial waterborne vessels and thus requires different tactics to retain qualified mariners. Knowledge of ET may help SMA leaders explain why the current best practices at their organization work in retaining mariners aboard training vessels. By promoting transformational leadership and providing increased career advancement opportunities, SMA can ease the stress of transitioning from a professional merchant mariner in the commercial field to a mariner specializing as an expert maritime educator, which will help to retain the qualified mariners needed to crew training ships (Davy & Noh, 2012; Haughton, 2012).

Transition and Summary

In Section 1, I described concerns of a possible U.S. and global mariner shortage and the effect that shortage might have on the maritime field, especially at training and education facilities that compete for highly qualified mariners. In the background of the problem section, I provided information on the complexities of training mariners and the impact the amount of training has on retaining mariners aboard training ships. In the problem and purpose statements, I revealed the current need to identify techniques that SMA leaders can use to retain mariners aboard training ships. In the nature of study and the conceptual framework sections, I discussed the use of the case study approach to allow SMA leaders to identify successful retention techniques used at their facilities. The literature review consisted of current and classic research on the need for maritime training onboard training ships to address the predicted shortage of mariners. The literature review also included an overview of the various political and economic issues affecting the maritime industry.

Section 2 below contains a detailed outline of the research process. The section starts with a restatement of the issue and purpose of the research; presents an outline of the researcher's role with details of the process for selecting study participants; the research methodology and design; ethical issues; and data collection and analysis. The final portion of Section 2 outlines the steps taken to ensure this study's reliability and validity.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 outlines the purpose of this qualitative, single case study to determine successful retention techniques at U.S. SMA. The use of interviews with SMA leaders provided data to identify patterns in successful retention strategies. SMA documentation from SMA human resources provided data to determine the effect of these strategies, such as improved employment performance and increased length of employment aboard training vessels. Section 2 also contains a delineation of my role as the researcher, the participant selection process, research methods and design, ethical research parameters, data collection and analysis methods, and issues of reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to identify successful retention strategies that U.S. SMA leaders use to retain mariners aboard training ships. The target population was federal- and state-funded U.S. SMA leaders who use strategies to retain mariners aboard training vessels. The study can contribute to positive social change by providing mariners who train cadets at SMA with greater employment satisfaction and reducing the shortage of mariners on U.S. waterways. Retaining experienced mariners aboard training vessels may also make the job market more competitive for graduates seeking employment in the maritime industry because of the professional training received due to the successful retention strategies identified in this study.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher in this study was to interview without prejudice eligible SMA leaders and recruit them as participants as well as compare interview data with SMA documentation. I remained as impartial as possible during the data collection and data analysis. The researcher as the primary data collector must avoid bias by developing and asking open-ended questions that permit the interviewee to address the research topic fully (Yin, 2014). Avoiding bias when reviewing the collected data also helped to ensure that I fully comprehended a participant's responses to the questions (see Anyan 2013; Berger, 2013).

I have over 25 years of experience in the U.S. merchant marine and 19 years in the higher education of merchant mariners. Because the value in understanding others' competence improves understanding (Isaksson-Persson, 2015), my exposure to the industry provided views of and ideas about maritime industry values. The experience of holding an Unlimited Master Oceans U.S. Merchant Mariner's Credential with STCW Certification and actively working at an SMA helped me relate to the research participants (i.e., mariner educators). Additionally, per the Belmont Report (1979), I maintained professional research guidelines by (a) establishing boundaries between the research and the participants' well-being; (b) treating participants equally and respecting their well-being; and (c) obtaining completed consent forms that outline all parties' responsibilities. Participants voluntarily participated in a noninvasive interview to share their perceptions of how retention strategies at their institutions succeeded in retaining qualified mariners as educators aboard training ships. Each participant informed of the process signed a consent form.

To avoid bias and remove personal perspective as much as possible, recorded interviews allowed chronicled information for the identification of repetitive participant responses (i.e., themes). A comparison of recordings provided reliability and validity of the data through the confirmation of statements made by interviewees (see Al-Yateem, 2012), and review of the recordings helped identify repetitive themes. The comparison of data for repetition in the SMA employment documentation showed relevant perceptions and validates them as possible solutions. During the semistructured interviews, I reviewed and repeated interviewers' self-perception to ensure focus of information was on the interviewee. During the interview, the researcher may relinquish control to allow the interviewee to confirm or deny a response and therefore provide a solid understanding of an answer to an open-ended question (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). The restating of data to the interviewee assisted in removing personal bias and pinpoints the reoccurrence of answers in various interviews.

The interview protocol consisted of asking the participant a set of questions and confirming the accuracy of the information elicited. Engaging the participant as an integral stakeholder began with the request to participate. Participants thus understood the details of the process, including the requirement for their consent to participate, purpose of the research, and protection for the participants (Brubacher, Poole, & Dickinson, 2015). Each step of the interview process acknowledged the importance of the stakeholders' contributions to the research topic. A defined interview improved the

process and allowed me to focus on the data to provide an accurate answer to the research question by increasing the substantive information collected (see Wolgemuth et al., 2015).

Participants

There are six SMA in the United States preparing mariners to train aboard U.S. SMA ships (MARAD, 2015; State Maritime Academy, 2016). The participants were selected from one of the six SMAs. Those who demonstrate similar characteristics should account for the characteristics, purpose, and compatibility of the parameters set in a research study (Koenig, 2013). Therefore, only SMA leaders implementing successful strategies for retaining mariners aboard training ships participated in the interviews.

Defining the selection process allows for replication of the study to test its validity (Kriglstein & Pohl, 2015). The process reinforced the selection of case study interviewees from an SMA by allowing me to select leaders who have implemented successful retention strategies. Defining the interviewee selection process enabled data saturation, alignment, and allowed all participants to be familiar with the subject of the research (Palinkas et al., 2015). I found the SMA leaders' public administration contact information via the Internet to access the SMA personnel information and determined who was in charge of ship operations and oversaw personnel aboard the training ships. Information selected from the SMA website confirmed the leaders' job duties, e-mail addresses for initial communications, and phone numbers to set up interviews.

The SMA leaders' involvement with mariners increased their understanding of the research topic and encouraged collaboration on successful retention strategies to fulfill

mariners' requests for employment aboard training ships. After evaluating SMA personnel and their relationship with the mariners aboard training vessels, I sent an initial e-mail to request their consent to participate in the study. Defined guidelines such as these demonstrate dedication to verifying best practices in data collected from each participant (Moore et al., 2015).

Through the qualitative method, researchers determine a relationship between the conditions and their elements (Wohlin & Aurum, 2015). Researchers initiate a relationship with the participants by relating the topic of the research to the participants' interests. Before setting up an interview, I sent a preliminary e-mail to all participants requesting that they review the research topic to become familiar with the purpose of the study. The initial e-mail contained an explanation of how I would use the information collected during the study and the impact the study might have on SMA. Fostering trust between participants and researchers reduces ambiguous or vague responses (Cuevas, Julkunen, & Gabrielsson, 2015; Nikolova, Möllering, & Reihlen, 2015) and allowed the SMA leaders (participants) to respond more openly to interview questions. The expertise of SMA leaders and the need to find best retention practices helped establish a positive participant–researcher relationship.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

There are three distinct methods of empirical research: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed method (Merriam, 2009). During the exploration phase of research, a qualitative researcher outlines guidance for exploring and finding information pertaining to the research question (Palinkas et al., 2015; Wohlin & Aurum, 2015). This study was exploratory by nature; therefore, I conducted it with a qualitative research method.

Both qualitative and quantitative research methods may involve exploratory processes through interviews or surveys (Wohlin & Aurum, 2015). The variations in the details of the research question and research process determines whether the research is qualitative or quantitative. Quantitative research is an analytical process that involves the testing of relationships between independent and dependent variables to produce a numerical outcome that accepts or rejects the hypothesis (Yilmaz, 2013). I did not intend to test hypotheses in this research, so quantitative research was not an acceptable approach. Instead, I interviewed participants through a series of open-ended questions. Qualitative research is used to target an audience to determine the reason for their perception of the topic being researched (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013).

Mixed-method research combines data from various perspectives to present a more in-depth view of a topic (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2014). Mixed-method research combines both quantitative and qualitative research methods to determine both the cause of a phenomenon and the suitability of the theory based on the research question and the purpose of the research (Venkatesh et al., 2013; Wohlin & Aurum, 2015). The point of the present study was to explore SMA leaders' successful retention strategies, which is a qualitative inquiry process, so I did not seek the analytical data required for quantitative research. For these reasons, neither quantitative nor mixed-method research was an appropriate technique for this study. My goal for the study was to determine the strategies used to retain mariners on SMA training vessels. The approach did not involve fieldwork on the outcomes of successful retention strategies, which made mixed-method and quantitative research inappropriate. Qualitative research was the best method for determining how to address a phenomenon in a revelatory process (Wohlin & Aurum, 2015).

Research Design

Each research design guides a researcher's approach for validating research based on the participant–researcher relationship (Grossoehme, 2014). The researcher must identify the techniques needed to answer a research question by setting the parameters for participant selection and the interaction level (Yin, 2014) and then formatting them into a recognized research design (Grossoehme, 2014). To find multiple social phenomena, the qualitative research design can be an ethnographic design, phenomenological design, or case study (Yilmaz, 2013).

An ethnographic design requires researchers to view and immerse themselves in the participants' culture over a certain period (Merriam, 2009; Yin, 2014). For example, anthropologists use an ethnographic design, which requires them to conduct field observations (Merriam, 2009). However, the data gathered, the outcome, and the perceptions of SMA leaders' retention practices did not require submersion in the daily operations at an SMA.

Phenomenological research incorporates human consciousness and experience to acknowledge perceived understanding (Merriam, 2009; Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenological research involves interpretation of the participants' experience (Rodham et al., 2015). Researchers in health and psychology often use these research techniques where participants relay their experiences with a situation or phenomenon (Callary, Rathwell, & Young, 2015). My study did not target individual perceptions of a phenomenon, but rather the insights of SMA leaders regarding successful retention techniques. Hence, a phenomenological design was inappropriate for this study.

Case study research is focused on an event that occurs within a bounded system (Yin, 2014). This study was focused on one SMA as a bounded system whose leaders have implemented successful mariner retention strategies. The case study approach is the only qualitative research method that examines bounded systems and allows multiple studies to enhance validity (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). A case study approach allows participants to express their understanding of the event or situation, which the researcher reviews for themes related to the research questions (Wohlin & Aurum, 2015).

The comparison of more than one bounded system provides validity and reliability by comparing bounded systems while repeating data collection and analysis to improve the truth of the outcome and its completeness (Elo et al., 2014). Participant interviews continue until the repetition of results supports the saturation of ideas and concepts and increases research validity (Fusch & Ness, 2015). By interviewing multiple SMA leaders and cross-referencing employment records, I found reoccurring trends. I continued to review the data until no more new themes or ideas concerning retention strategies appeared. Data saturation does not always require repetition; a thorough collection of data that does not introduce new concepts and relates to the research question can result in data saturation (Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015). Single case studies ensure saturation with multiple responses from SMA leaders and an in-depth review of documentation.

The case study method was the most appropriate for determining strategies that retain mariners aboard U.S. training ships. This single case study allowed me to ask multiple SMA leaders for details of retention methods at one SMA. This study's design revealed successful retention strategies that could be cross-compared and aligned with qualitative research concepts. This allowed me to collect data from various SMA leaders in one SMA until I reached saturation for the one bounded system. The themes and ideas found in this study compared with various SMA in the future could provide further insight to SMA in different locations within the United States.

Population and Sampling

Purposeful sampling is an essential component for gathering in-depth, generalized data pertaining to participants' understanding of a situation (Yilmaz, 2013). Researchers gain insight into a research question by selecting participants with firsthand insight who also meet the selection criteria (Grossoehme, 2014; Merriam, 2009). Purposeful selection identifies pertinent stakeholders with knowledge of the selected topic.

In this case study, the participants selected through purposeful sampling were SMA leaders who oversaw the successful retention strategies of mariners aboard SMA training vessels. A sample of the target population of SMA leaders who implement successful retention strategies and know that employment opportunities for mariners aboard SMA training ships were included in the study sample. Purposeful sampling builds credibility through selection of interviewees with a direct understanding of the research question (Benoot, Hannes, & Bilsen, 2016). Selecting more research participants than required ensures progress can continue (Grayson & Media, 2013). The participants were department heads for each corresponding ship department and the SMA leader who oversees the training vessel and SMA campus.

Sample size versus outcome importance affects the number of possibilities or the final data's range of accuracy (Liu, 2013). Initially, an outline of personnel, titles, and job descriptions to cross-compare between job functions for similar leadership roles facilitated the selection of SMA leaders. The assorted participant pool allowed for indepth data collection necessary to achieve saturation and understanding of the data (see Palinkas et al., 2015; Yilmaz, 2013). The participants were employed at the SMA, held an SMA leadership position, and understood the retention strategies used at the SMA.

After reviewing the SMA personnel list, I selected at least five SMA leaders engaged in the creation or implementation of mariner retention strategies for the training ship. SMA personnel groups tend to represent a small population. The selection processes for finding an alternative population ensured that the data collected represented the most viable sources. Brubacher et al. (2015) suggested conducting interviews in comfortable settings acceptable to each participant with guidelines that state the purpose of the interview and create a safe environment for participants to answer interview questions openly. A researcher may create an uncomfortable situation for the participant that might hamper data collection during the interviews in a qualitative study (Qu & Dumay, 2011). When necessary, I conducted interviews over the phone so participants felt safe with the interview environment. Participants selected a time and place for the interview that was convenient for them. The interview location selected was a common space and time where all parties could focus on open-ended questions and give answers without feeling uncomfortable or worrying about interruptions (see Brubacher et al., 2015).

Selecting a holistic design is important when sampling units to ensure each level of operation represents the research topic at each level of the system (Yin, 2014). To compare SMA retention techniques, I used interviews with multiple SMA leaders and documentation of historical employment records to ensure saturation and alignment, leading to the themes regarding successful retention strategies. The selection of interviewees provided saturation through continuous data collection until the information was repetitious and new ideas failed to emerge (Fusch & Ness, 2015). SMA leaders provided leadership perspectives and breadth on successful retention strategies. The final comparison of SMA leaders with the documentation correlated with the success of retention strategies.

Ethical Research

When conducting a case study, researchers should avoid unethical practices by following formal, approval guidelines, such as those of the Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the Belmont Report (Belmont Report, 1979; Yin, 2014). The final selection of participants and beginning of an interview relied on participants' acceptance of the interview with a signed letter of participation and interview protocol (Appendix A). The informed consent form describes the study's purpose, the participant's requirements, the researcher's requirements, and participants' rights.

Participants were willing to answer the interview questions to the best of their ability. None of the participants declined to answer questions or ended the interview. Participants had the choice to withdraw from the study by notifying the researcher immediately of their intent to withdraw, which would have resulted in my not using the previously collected data. There were no incentives for participating in this study nor were there any penalties for withdrawing.

I will hold collected information confidentially in a locked, secure location for 5 years after the completion of the study, and then destroy it. The collected data will not be released to any outside persons, but a summary of participants' interviews was made available for the participants to review. Coding the data collected used in the study keeps participants unidentified and helps protect the quality of the study (Saunders, Kitzinger, & Kitzinger, 2015). The information collected for my present study will not be available for any future research without interviewees' consent. The processing of this research material is in accordance with the IRB (approval no. 02-02-18-0408724).

The identity of all participants in the study will remain confidential. I assigned identification codes to protect their identities. Participant confidentiality creates an ethical bond, provides security to the participant, and allows the researcher to view the collected information and data more objectively (Saunders, Kitzinger, & Kitzinger, 2015). By removing bias, the security of confidentiality provided a basis for a positive collaboration between each participant and me to find answers to the research question.

Data Collection Instruments

As the primary data collection instrument, a researcher collects the data and performs a full analysis of the information without introducing bias or personal interpretation (Qu & Dumay, 2011). My responsibility was to determine the interviewees' knowledge and to be the primary collector of data from the interviews. The recorded interviews were semistructured. The use of general, open-ended questions allows researchers to determine if the information collected is indeed sufficient when participants expand on their areas of interest (Qu & Dumay, 2011; Yin, 2014). The design of the interview questions should allow interviewees to convey their feelings freely and without conflict from the researcher (Anyan, 2013). Semistructured interviews allow participants to respond freely while leaving researchers the option of understanding and clarifying responses (Qu & Dumay, 2011). A clear definition of the interview structure by the researcher connects the interviewee with the research question (Wolgemuth et al., 2015).

To find the best interviewees for this research, the selection followed IRB guidelines and local laws. Using the IRB ensured the rights of human subjects were protected during the research interviews (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013). Creating quality, qualitative, research questions requires that a researcher define the research goal (Yin, 2014). The interview questions used should create a focal point for data collection that makes interpretation for the conclusion meaningful. Participants react better when they understand the benefits of the research. My role as the primary data collector was to explain the value of determining the successful retention strategies currently used and following interview protocol (Wolgemuth etal., 2015). The use of solid, qualitative, semistructured questions lends reliability and validity to the data collection through the repetition of questions targeting the research topic (Yin, 2014).

Member checking also helps researchers collect data that are an accurate account of interviewees' responses by consolidating interpretation of the responses by SMA leaders. Member checking (i.e., respondent validation) provides reusable feedback from participants that lead to questions that confirm the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation (Årlin, Börjeson, & Östberg, 2015). Member checking and echoing responses to ensure the accuracy of the interpretation support the validity and reliability of the data collected. The researcher can enhance reliability and validity by following a case study process to compare more than one bounded system (Elo et al., 2014). Member checking is adaptable to various research methods, which allows the interviewer to validate the data and the interviewees to reflect on their responses (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). In this study, the transcribed SMA leader's interview data with an interpretation of the data for the original participant was reviewed for accuracy before data analysis begins.

Participants become more comfortable and their responses more reliable when they understand the research process (Wolgemuth et al., 2015). The interview protocol stages were: (a) engaging the participant through the consent form; (b) introducing in detail the importance of the research and stakeholders with a description of participant protection; (c) directing the bulk of the open-ended questions toward the research question; and (d) closing the interview by thanking the participant for the valued information, which has been coded to protect participants' identity (Qu & Dumay, 2011). The interview protocol detailed in Appendix A provided a reference for participants. A defined research interview process introduces participants to the purpose of the research question by aligning their understanding of the research question with the possible conclusion of the research (Yin, 2014). I used the interview protocol for consistency and the protection of all involved.

As a secondary data collection method, I reviewed SMA documentation on retention of current mariners and retention policies at SMA. Procedures require both an understanding of and attention to the progression of the effect on the situation (Le Pelley, Mitchell, Beesley, George, & Wills, 2016). Business leaders must implement and monitor employment measures for the position and expectation of employment terms that lead to a sustainable working atmosphere (Vives, González, & Benach, 2016). The enhancement of employee loyalty comes from investing in employee training and providing support to assist in retention (Beynon, Jones, Pickernell, & Packham, 2015). A comparison of data on retention opportunities to SMA leader interviews revealed SMA leaders' actual use of retention strategies in the employment process.

Data Collection Technique

To collect data on successful retention strategies, I asked SMA leaders openended questions about their current retention practices and the process of mariner employment. The organization of interview-based, qualitative research delineates the sample universe, sample size, sample strategy, and case sources (Robinson, 2014). The interview protocol form in Appendix A served as a reference for participants. First, I gathered the possible participant pool from the internet and compared the participants' level of leadership and involvement with retention strategies. Once I found participants, I initiated contact and explained my research topic. If the participant was willing, I conducted interviews via phone to provide flexibility in gathering data. Additionally, I requested company documents from human resources on an SMA's employment procedures, which gave me information on the SMA's alternatives for mariner retention.

During the phone interview, researchers observe verbal responses while the participant focuses on the interview (Qu & Dumay, 2011). Each interview lasted approximately 1 hour. My goal was to be a good listener and an active investigator during the interview (Yin, 2014). The use of a conversational technique during the interview helps the participant feel accepted as part of the research (Qu & Dumay, 2011). After the completion of all interviews, I studied the data for themes and ideas on retention strategies.

McNamara (2013) acknowledged the effectiveness of interviews that collect participants' information to support research in a qualitative study. The digitally recorded answers provided from all participant interviews were transcribed to provide the data necessary to analyze participants' answers. I examined answers for repetition that offered further data collection after the transcription at the end of all interviews. The final comparison of notes and transcribed data allowed interpretation of the pertinent data extracted to develop themes based in active responses for the final documentation of participants' answers. As for document collection, I worked with the SMA human resources department to determine the positions aboard a vessel, the longevity of personnel holding those positions, the compensation given at each position, and any records of professional development. Throughout the research process, the researcher should understand the importance of bias and set constraints when selecting a research method and mining data to increase the reliability and validity of the research (Podsakoff, MacKenzie, & Podsakoff, 2012). I compared the documented data with the interview data to find associated data about improved performance. Bias results from a person's various exposures and life events (Berger, 2013). Collecting data from interviews along with documentation increases reliability and validity by comparing SMA leaders' perceptions with the documented performance data. The researcher's sampling boundaries provide validity and reliability in rigorous data mining until the data support the research question without allowing outside the focus to influence the study (Robinson, 2014).

During the data collection and subsequent follow-up discussions, member checking assists researchers in solidifying participants' responses (Årlin et al., 2015). Repeating questions and inquiring about responses are tactics researchers can use to confirm understanding of a participant's responses (Yin, 2014). The use of member checking in this study was substantial in solidifying the details of the various retention strategies as the interviewees reviewed transcribed data; this was done at each stage of the interview process (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). To conduct member checking in this case study, I provided each participant with a transcript and brief summary of the findings gleaned from the transcript of the interview to enable that individual to verify the accuracy of the data collected before I used it in the study. A researcher who incorporates a discussion about the data allows participants to express their understanding of the findings and ensures complete validation of the collected data (Simpson & Quigley, 2016).

Data Organization Techniques

Chikweche and Fletcher (2012) found using an unstructured interview process hindered the collection of reliable data. Semistructured data collection and organization, they said, aided in the interpretation and understanding of information gathered while reducing uncertain interpretations (Chikweche & Fletcher, 2012). Data organization by a researcher requires the usage of consolidating techniques throughout the research to collect, detect, and document in-depth, context data for reference (Yilmaz, 2013). Berger (2013) found that repeatedly reviewing data throughout the research process provided a holistic understanding of data interpretation and a variation in participants' perspectives.

As the primary collector of data, I digitally recorded SMA leader interviews with a portable voice recorder. I transcribed each interview to preserve the data and document the knowledge collected during the actual interview for future reference. Then I methodically analyzed the data according to the approach described in the next section on data analysis techniques.

The data extracted from this study could aid future SMA leaders in developing retention tactics that meet the needs of maritime educators. The coded data will be stored on a jump drive for easy retrieval throughout the research. I will be the primary data collector responsible for providing a safe interview process, protecting the quality of the research by protecting the anonymity of the participants, and securely safeguarding data (Brubacher, Poole, & Dickinson, 2015; Qu & Dumay, 2011; Saunders, Kitzinger, & Kitzinger, 2015). I will keep all raw data in electronic form in a locked container for 5 years after the completion of the study for reference and verification of the data. Then I will destroy it.

Data Analysis Technique

Research requires more than data collection (Anyan, 2013). I analyzed the information to determine the best retention strategies at each SMA in the sample. Examining transcribed interviews for reoccurring statements increases reliability and validity as well as strengthens the case study (Yazan, 2015). I collected data from employment documentation and interviews to compare with literature themes found in ET though methodological triangulation. I used triangulation to systematically review all raw data from various sources to compile targeted concepts (Flick, 2017).

To analyze data, Merriam (2009) suggested that the best practices for qualitative data analysis included conducting the data collection and analyses in a consistent format and reviewing them simultaneously with data collected using the constant comparative method. Searching the raw data for repetition of ideas or themes until data saturation occurs helps a researcher turn concepts into theories (Roy et al., 2015). Reviewing data for repetition with methodological triangulation techniques assists the researcher with incorporating feedback of participants into retention themes (Roulston & Shelton, 2015). Methodological triangulation enabled me to narrow multiple responses into themes. In

this case study, I methodically reviewed all raw data to triangulate themes important to ET.

With each interview and resource review, more information emerged that enhanced the research. Data analysis measures information once the information considered becomes contextual and is associated with the research question (Grimmer & Stewart, 2013). Entering data into an Excel spreadsheet allowed referencing and manipulation of columns and rows to organize individual responses into themes.

Valence, instrumentality, and expectancy themes of ET permit leaders to target the level of an employee's motivation to complete outcomes (Barbare-Sanchez & Atienza-Sahuquillo, 2017). The use of job expectation themes outlined in the ET provides a broader basis than the use of financial factors alone (Herbert & Rothweel, 2016) to determine the value of various retention techniques used by SMA leaders. The leaders' understanding of ET motivation levels could motivate mariners continuously throughout their career aboard training vessels. SMA leaders can use the targeted ET themes to increase instructor retention by assessing mariners' needs and determining the best incentives for them to continue working aboard training vessels. SMA leaders can identify the retention strategies that work best in meeting the needs of mariners. This enables interpretations; assists in determining which areas of the ET conceptual framework the responses align to; and provides insights into why the successful retention strategies increase mariner retention aboard training vessels.

I analyzed each interview and SMA documentation into concepts using classic data analysis. While reviewing, I reconstructed the data into piles for the presentation of

the conclusion and isolate similar trends within each bounded system. I cross-compared the data on successful trends from multiple sources to identify the repetition of reoccurring language and themes defined in the organization, leadership, and retention. Once the themes were apparent, I categorized the repeated themes to triangulate the best practices that target the retention of mariners aboard training ships at SMA.

Reliability and Validity

Dependability, credibility, transferability, conformability, and authenticity enabled future researchers to accept the reliability and validity of current research by removing negative perceptions of the study and researcher bias (Elo et al., 2014). Through defining the research process, data saturation focuses on responses directly related to research questions (Palinkas et al., 2015). Data saturation is met when no new ideas or themes emerge (Roy et al., 2015). I asked participants questions that provided unbiased responses that were comprehensive and related to SMA mariners to build retention strategies.

Reliability

Research progression better represents the research process and creates an acceptable research conclusion by intertwining qualitative research design with the known biases of the researcher (Roulston & Shelton, 2015). The progression of reviewing transcribed data that follow member-checking techniques provides solid data for methodological triangulation. Vroom (1964) created the ET to categorize common themes expected for retaining people in businesses. The categorization of data solidified through member checking provides dependability (Årlin et al., 2015). The structure of a

study provided dependability by establishing a thorough review and interpretation of data at various stages to determine which retention techniques related to the proven themes and are viable for industry implementation.

Validity

There are various approaches to prove creditability, transferability, and confirmability in validating the quality of the data interpretations in research (Grimmer & Stewart, 2013; Roulston & Shelton, 2015). Understanding bias is the first step in creating better techniques for controlling creditability in one's research (Roulston & Shelton, 2015). The implementation of validity through member checking demonstrates a capstone review of data collected (Årlin et al., 2015; Simpson & Quigley, 2016).

To assist in limiting bias and encouraging the transferability of studies on retention in the maritime field, I sorted the data into themes delineated by the ET to represent common valence, instrumentality, expectancy of job expectations (Vrooms, 1964). The process of applying repetitive interviews to more than one participant increased validity by transferring the process from one participant to another to scour for data (Houghton et al., 2013). Houghton also proposed triangulation to increase validity in finding themes for application in future studies. The ability to repeat an interview multiple times with various SMA leaders created a situation where the validity was confirmed by repetition of the process while data mining for reoccurring themes. The conclusion of the study confirmed that the participants' insights were valid and the recreation of the study usable in the future. The outcome of the research may enable others to build models for future research (Abanda, Vidalakis, Oti, & Tah, 2015). I used participants' responses to interview questions to determine the themes of the perceptions of SMA leaders found in interview responses to demonstrate confirmability by verifying understanding through data review and methodological triangulation. To improve confirmability, analysis of data collection compared to previously recognized measurements in established theory creates verifiable themes (Grimmer & Stewart, 2013). The use of member checking in this study allowed for verification of data by recalling content and confirming understanding by Vroom (1964) established themes. In each interview, I restated all data collected from the participant to confirm understanding and accuracy. At that point, data grouped into themes showed conformability to job expectation theories previously outlined by the ET.

Finally, data saturation helped support validity by improving creditability and confirmability. The participant interviews continued to include repetition in themes and responses compared with similar outcomes to confirm saturation of data (Yazan, 2015). At the end of the data analysis, data saturation was confirmed when no further themes or ideas emerged (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Roy et al., 2015).

Summary

The result of this qualitative case study was the identification of successful strategies used by SMA leaders to retain merchant mariners aboard training ships. Section 2 contained an explanation of the case study method and research design to support interviewing SMA leaders. In selecting the interviewee population, the choice of participants included SMA leaders who have supervised merchant mariners aboard SMA training ships.

Section 2 also contained a discussion of the ethical responsibility of both the interviewee and the researcher, who must protect all participants, and the right of interviewees to participate voluntarily and withdraw at any time without explanation. This section also included an outline of the data collection process and analysis for future researchers who may choose to replicate the study. Finally, a reliability and validity subsection included information about the soundness of the study. Determining the successful retention techniques employed by SMA leaders could enable future researchers to perform additional research that would evaluate the relative effectiveness of these successful retention strategies.

Section 3 contains the researcher's findings and analysis. I discussed the various themes found during data mining and compare to literature and Vroom's ET (1964). I also reflect on the implementation of best practices on professional performances and social change. Finally, I made recommendations for further actions and research concepts for the future before giving my reflection and comprehensive conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, single case study was to identify retention strategies used by U.S. SMA leaders to retain mariners aboard training ships. After selecting an SMA located in the United States, I conducted five semistructured interviews with SMA leaders who have various levels of oversight of ship operations, became familiar with the SMA mission statement, and reviewed employment processes to complete the examination of retention strategies. Four themes supporting successful retention strategies emerged from the analysis of the interview data: competitive compensation, professional development to maintain or improve performance, recognition for responsibilities and performance, and transparency and trust to create a positive work environment. First, participants indicated that competitive compensation at various levels (e.g., wages, benefits, and retirement plans) was an important part of employment package. Second, participants acknowledged that professional development to maintain or improve performance added value to the employment at SMA. Third, participants identified recognition for performance and responsibilities as a strategy for increasing retention at SMA. Fourth, participants identified trust and transparency in efforts to create a positive work environment as essential to creating value in employment and improving retention. An examination of archival records (i.e., employee-related organization documents and guidelines) reinforced the four themes identified from the analysis of the interview data.

Presentation of the Findings

The research question for the qualitative case study was the following: What successful retention strategies do SMA leaders in the United States use to retain mariners aboard training ships? To answer the research question, I used open-ended sample questions (see Appendix A) to determine SMA leaderships' knowledge of retention strategies and explored employment process documents for the institutional retention processes. Four themes related to successful retention strategies that emerged from the data analysis were: (a) monetary value of employment and benefits must be comparable to what is available in the maritime industry, (b) professional development is necessary to maintain maritime industry credentials and improve employee performance within the organization, (c) recognition and understanding the uniqueness of being a mariner as a profession are important to create value for the employee, and (d) transparency and trust increases communication and the understanding needed for successful retention.

Theme 1: Competitive Compensation

Compensation and benefits affect job performance outcomes (Raza, Kanwal, Rafique, Sarfraz, & Zahra, 2017). Compensation and benefits may be in forms of intrinsic (self-motivated) or extrinsic (financial) methods used to improve retention strategies (Kanfer & Chen, 2016). Intrinsic and extrinsic methods of motivation, when used separately, improve employee outcomes and influence an employee's perspective on what methods are best practices for their operations (Kuvass, Buch, Weibel, Dysvik, & Nerstad, 2017). Researchers have found a direct correlation of an employee's perception of actual pay level in an organization and the relative pay level in an industry with job satisfaction (Sieweke, Kollner, & Sub, 2017). Table 1 provides the frequency comparison of equal compensation for the mariner profession. Participants acknowledged wages were below industry standards, and most SMA employees stayed aboard training vessels for intrinsic reasons rather than extrinsic ones.

Table 1

	Interview Question	Number of References
Participant 1	1,2,3,5,6,8	5
Participant 2	1,2,3,4,5,8	15
Participant 3	1,2,3,5,7,8	4
Participant 4	1,3,8	5
Participant 5	1,2,3,7,8	8
Organization Documents	N/A	16

A Frequency Comparison of Competitive Compensation

Four (80%) of the participants found that SMA leadership did not provide regular incentives or awards for the maritime achievements of the mariners aboard the training vessel. Three (60%) participants indicated the organization lacked the resources to match the maritime industry compensation and benefits. In fact, one participant stated, "I don't think that the parent organization values mariners." The participants realized the compensation for mariners does not compare to maritime industry standards. The participants also noted SMA leadership must use alternatives to compensation and wages to develop successful retention strategies.

Various extrinsic and intrinsic motivation methods combined may improve performance objectives by creating an incentive structure for employees (Kanfer & Chen, 2016). Four (80%) participants stated that SMA leadership provided intrinsic motivation and internal satisfaction by improving accommodations and the lifestyle aboard the vessel as a possible successful retention strategy. Four (80%) participants mentioned flextime in their work rotation as another successful retention strategy. Two (40%) of the participants mentioned that SMA leadership provided longevity and appreciation awards to SMA employees. The participants' tone when describing these alternatives to monetary compensation was positive.

An examination of SMA documents revealed SMA leadership strives to distribute evenly the internal equity of compensation with the structure of external employment packages to create competitive employee positions within the organization. The two main compensation retention strategies were pay that reflects experience and longevity and benefits that are flexible to the employee's needs. Undermining employee value by inaccurately compensating for employment responsibilities decreases motivation and reduces productivity (Sieweke et al., 2017).

The organizational leaders overseeing SMA operations require SMA employees to set review metrics for each internal department regularly to measure SMA performance and resource allocation. SMA leaders compare and review the data obtained during reviews to determine the allocation of internal department resources, align compensation for employment to reflect the corresponding employee market values, and balance the workload assigned to each employee classification. Overall, the SMA leaders allocate the limited resources to support compensation and benefits but do not tend to meet the needs of the mariners aboard the training vessels. Each participant found value in aligning compensation and benefits with the responsibilities required by mariners on board the training vessel as shown in the response to Question 3.

Theme 2: Professional Development

When organizational leaders invest in enhancing employee job performance through training and professional development, employee job satisfaction increases (Rony & Suki, 2017). Employees are the working system of the organization, and investment is necessary to train and develop the employees to perform at their highest ability (MacKay, 2015; Rodriguez & Walter, 2017). For example, Sartori, Costantini, Ceschi, and Tommasi (2018) defined the training and development of employees as a lifelong learning program required to empower employees to improve job performance. Organizational leaders' investment in professional development creates job security and credibility for employees that in return creates value for the organization (MacKay, 2015). Table 2 represents the frequency of participants' responses to the interview question referencing professional development as a strategy to retain mariners aboard the training vessel.

Table 2

	Interview Question	Number of References
Participant 1	2,4,7	4
Participant 2	1,4,7	10
Participant 3	3,4,5,7	9
Participant 4	1,3,4,7,8	21
Participant 5	1,2,4,6,7	7
Organization Documents	N/A	36

A Frequency Comparison of Professional Development

Interview Question 4 directly represented professional development as related to retention strategy. All participants (100%) mentioned professional development as a possible motivation for improving the SMA mariner retention. Four (80%) of the participants acknowledged that SMA leaders budget a small amount for conferences and

training. Professional development is a valuable tool for employees to increase skill and job performance (MacKay, 2015).

Four (80%) participants stated that SMA leaders provide funding to maintain or upgrade merchant mariner credentials. Each of the participants (100%) reinforced the belief that SMA leadership is consistent in supporting the need for a stipend for professional development. The participants reiterated that professional development is focused on mandatory human resource training and maintaining merchant mariner credentials. Training and development targets educational opportunities to empower or enhance employee performance (Sartori et al., 2018). SMA leaders may find it beneficial to expand professional development opportunities for SMA mariners aboard the training vessel.

An examination of the SMA documents indicated that SMA leadership implements a personalized development program tailored to each employee's performance and development. The process requires aligning performance and professional development requirements to enhance the organization's continuous improvement in performance. Feedback from departmental leadership allows employees to set goals pertaining to their individual needs, perform employee duties while filling gaps, and improve work skills in various organizational tasks. For example, the mariners aboard the training ship might use organizational funds to maintain their license or attend a conference on educational assessment techniques. The SMA leadership does not define the requirements for professional development but instead allows the employee to determine whether the professional development is necessary through discussions with the supervisor.

Theme 3: Recognition for Performance and Responsibilities

The three R's—respect, recognition, and rewards—provide organization leaders with alternatives for increasing employee satisfaction (Kumar & Mathimaran, 2017). Makokha, Namusonge, Kanali, and Milgo (2014) recognized that the use of employee development opportunities improves the employee's self-value, which allows the organization to succeed. Understanding the employee's value through social recognition, and not solely financial payment, can increase employee creativity in ways that lead to an increase in organizational performance (Mehta, Dahl, & Zhu, 2017). Therefore, recognition for performance and responsibility from leaders provides motivation for the employee and employer to improve operations. Table 3 represents the participants' responses related to recognition strategies used by SMA leaders to retain mariners aboard the training vessel.

Table 3

	Interview Question	Number of References
Participant 1	1,2,3,6,7,8	11
Participant 2	1,2,3,4,6,7	24
Participant 3	3,4,5,7	6
Participant 4	3,4,6,7,8	16
Participant 5	1,2,3,5,6,7,8	8
Organization Documents	N/A	35

A Frequency Comparison of Recognition for Performance and Responsibilities

Two of the participants (40%) acknowledged recognition for longevity; however, no participant believed that longevity was a positive reward in performance. Four (80%)

participants mentioned that the organization leadership overseeing operation and resource allocation did not fully understand the value and essential part the mariners play in the organization's success. One participant (20%) stated, "Really have not program within the institution for recruiting and retaining mariners for the training ship." This disconnect provided a view of misunderstanding between operation procedures and SMA leaders.

Rewards as a retention strategy is misunderstood and could increase retention by creating better job satisfaction (Bussin, 2018). Two (40%) participants acknowledged that the recognition awards given by organization leadership do not generally pertain to the performance of the training ship employees, being structured primarily to reward other organizational employees. One participant (20%) felt the rewards provided by leadership were directed toward faculty initiatives and not mariners aboard the training ship.

An examination of SMA documents showed processes to promote employee engagement and retention. The recognition process reflects contributions to the organization, not specific employee duties. This disconnect was apparent during the discussions of interview Question 5, where the response rate was low among the participants. This was apparent when one participant directly responded, "No," when asked if there were any types of rewards or incentives offered at their SMA. The recognition processes align with the leadership's evaluation of performance and the performance standards associated with the mission and goals of the organization, which may not align with roles and responsibilities of mariners aboard the training ship. Organizational leadership uses the recognition processes to encourage retention and the achievement of goals even though they may be unaware of the how the mariners' operational activities on the training ship support the organizational goals.

Theme 4: Transparency and Trust to Create Positive Work Environment

According to Ahn, Lee, and Yun (2018), the relationship between ethical leaders and employees affects their job performance. The use of two-way leadership communication, with active listening and feedback, motivates employees through nonfinancial obligations (Florea & Gilmeanu Menea, 2016). Trust created through organizational policies and processes can create a positive environment for employees if the policies are concise and relate directly to the operational processes (Verburg et al., 2018).

Participants' responses and organizational policies reflected some level of transparency and trust. Two participants (40%) responded that the SMA tries to create a positive culture for their employees. Transparency by organizational leaders creates an open work environment where operations promote interactive relationships and the setting of mutual goals for the organization, which builds trust and loyalty (Al Shobaki, Abu Naser, & Ammar, 2017). Table 4 shows the frequency of participants' responses associated with the use of transparency and trust techniques to improve employee climate for each of the interview questions. Participants made 131 references to efforts to create trust and transparency within the organization, with 68 referring to successful retention strategies, 32 referring to improving communication efforts, 23 referring to empowering the mariner in employee roles, and 16 referring to the positive culture and mission of the institution.

Table 4

	Interview Question	Number of References
Participant 1	1,3,4,6,8	7
Participant 2	1,3,4,5,6,7,8	10
Participant 3	1,3,5,6,8	3
Participant 4	2,3,4,6,8	17
Participant 5	1,2,3,5,6,7,8	12
Organization Documents	N/A	26

A Frequency Comparison for Transparency and Trust to Create a Positive Work Environment

Five (100%) SMA leaders noted trust is part of the SMA culture and results in employees who tend to adhere to the mission of the organization. One participant (20%) stated, "You just hope you get the best people who like the mission." All SMA leaders mentioned the lengthy onboarding and cultural improvement programs, which encourage employees to align with the mission. The onboarding process involves both formal orientation to organizational policy and regulations and the creation of a cohesive culture through regular training. Even then, one participant stated, "I don't have real expectation we can maintain a captain or chief or assistant for more than 5 to 10 years."

Four (80%) participants reported the SMA leadership relied on a mariner's previous industry relationships in the maritime industry to recruit and encourage peers to fill positions aboard the SMA training vessel. In fact, one participant (20%) mentioned, "They (officers) are all retired." This eludes to the mariners aboard the vessel being from a pool of applicants from the maritime profession but are not in the prime working years to earn retirement. Three (60%) participants indicated SMA leadership fostered employee empowerment by setting goals for employees to accomplish within the direct area of responsibilities aboard the ship. Four (80%) participants recognized the need for all

stakeholders within the organization to understand the uniqueness of the maritime profession in order to create an attractive work environment.

Verburg et. al (2018) indicated trust as an area within the organization required for building stronger performance and culture. Leaders can develop positive personal actions and interaction by communicating their understanding of employees' desire to integrate their tasks with organizational goals (Ahn, Lee, & Yun, 2018; Florea & Gilmeanu Menea, 2016). One participant indicated that trust is a value of the SMA culture, whereas the remaining participants associated trust as expected and allowed to apply their maritime industry knowledge while performing their daily operations on board the training ship at a high level.

Review of the SMA documents indicated that the application of trust and transparency as a retention strategy did not tie directly to the employees in-ship operations but did affect overall organizational culture. The lack of references to trust and transparency throughout SMA documentation may indicate that organizational leadership's primary focus is on hiring employees rather than retaining them. In fact, the SMA documents referenced an employee survey that indicated a mixed perception within the organization about leadership's desire to create a culture of trust and transparency.

Findings Related to ET

Vroom's (1964) ET reflects motivational strategies through valence, instrumentality, and expectancy. Each of these themes represents an initiative to motivate employees towards institutional goals based on employee expectation and effort (Ballard, Yeo, Loft, Vancouver, & Neal, 2016). Kanfer and Chen (2016) found motivational strategies are best when employee and organizational needs align towards an end goal. The SMA leaders developed retention strategies based on employee needs that reflect each ET theme (valence, instrumentality, and expectancy) to improve longevity.

Valence refers to the initial reward system employees require to perform tasks and reach the goal (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996; Vroom, 1964). The employee has intrinsic and extrinsic compensation needs that employers must satisfy (Singhapong & Winley, 2017). SMA leaders complement financial compensation, medical benefits, and retirement benefit packages with flexible work schedules and opportunities to earn extra pay, and a work environment that features excellent food and living accommodations for the mariners aboard the training ship.

Instrumentality refers to the employees' perception of whether the level of performance required is sufficient to attain the goal (Kuvass et al., 2016, Vroom, 1964). The performance and recognition awards given by SMA leaders acknowledge the employee for performance and longevity, among other employee outcomes, to encourage employees to support organizational operations. The use of rewards allows the employer to recognize an employee's level of engagement and creativity to achieve organizational goals (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996).

Expectancy refers to the ability to perform the goal at a proficient level (Ray, 2016). Employers need to determine if the employee can achieve the goal (Ballard et al., 2016). SMA leaders supply physical resources so the mariners can perform daily operations, provide funding to create professional development opportunities, maintain mariner's professional credentials, or take knowledge-based courses to improve work

skills. Combining the ET themes allows leaders to create motivation at various levels and initiate creative alternatives to increase effort, performance, and development of the best techniques and goals to offer the best employment opportunities (Choi & Whitford, 2016; Herbert & Rothwell, 2016; Vroom, 1962).

Applications to Professional Practice

Using best practices within a business may create a successful work environment that encourages employee motivation to meet organizational goals and increase retention. Wang and Chen (2017) suggested organizational leaders implement the following actions to improve retention strategies: (a) improve the quality of field leadership, (b) invest in professional development, (c) implement a strategic hiring process, (d) take advantage of recognition and communication in the organization's culture, (e) use benefits and perks, (f) have flexible work arrangements, and (g) provide equity incentives. ET provides themes of valence (intrinsic and extrinsic reward associated with achieving a goal), instrumentality (belief that achieving the goal will result in receiving the reward), and expectancy (belief that one's efforts will result in reaching the goal) as motivational methods (Vroom, 1964).

Participants found SMA retention strategies reflect the use of each ET theme, valence, instrumentality, and expectancy. Each theme represents a part of what the mariners need or want. Valence represented the highest valued impact of need, wages, and benefits. Each participant verified the need to have competitive wages and benefits equal to those in the maritime industry to recruit and retain mariners. Other SMA leaders may find beneficial results in retaining mariners by investing in financial options to retain mariners aboard training ships.

Instrumentality had the lowest response rate on want or need because the organization has limited opportunities for promotion aboard the training vessel and recognition rewards that do not directly correspond with the duties and responsibilities of mariners aboard the training vessel. The investment by SMA leaders in recognizing mariners aboard the training ship might build trust and transparency.

Last, expectancy seems met by the organization providing enough resources to complete goals and professional development to maintain or improve knowledge-based proficiencies through conferences and continuing education programs. SMA leaders could develop professional development opportunities to engage mariners in organizational goals while promoting their industry knowledge. The use of professional development may provide an alternative to promotions within the ranks by providing expertise in the field. Each theme is represented in the SMA leadership retention strategies to meet the ET theory of using valence, instrumentality, and expectancy as a motivational tool. Other SMA leaders might provide their own institution with stronger retention strategies. The use of valence, instrumentality, and expectancy creates an opportunity to measure motivation levels to meet the needs of the employee and organization (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996; Vroom 1964).

Continuous leadership interaction with employees is necessary to determine the motivational tools needed to create competitive employment packages and a rewarding employment opportunity (Choi & Whitford; Herbert & Rothwell, 2016). Leaders who

continuously maintain policy and procedures to represent best practices create stronger and more successful retention strategies (Güss, Burger, & Dorner, 2017). According to information found in the SMA documentation, SMA leaders are working with the organization to provide continuous feedback to improve retention strategies.

Leaders should use policy and guidelines to align organizational practices with best practices (Güss et al., 2017). In the SMA leadership surveys, the employee responses provide SMA leaders with the information needed to develop additional retention strategies and improve existing strategies in ways that better met employees' needs. To maintain best practices, leaders should follow the current trends of employee's needs and wants to ensure a positive work environment (Jonas, 2016). Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2011) associated motivation with a sense of feeling and emotion to create satisfaction with employment. Addressing the needs and wants of employees allows the SMA leaders to create and offer effective retention strategies.

Implications for Social Change

Leaders control the atmosphere in which employees decide to engage actively in the operations and provide ethical pro-social behavior in the workplace (Lui, Liao, & Wei, 2015). The development of best practices allows leaders to provide empowering work environments that enhance and increase creativity and increases job satisfaction (Wong & Laschinger, 2013). SMA leaders using best practices, such as flexible work schedules and hiring part-time employees, allow the mariners on the training ship to build initiatives for the cadets seeking employment in the maritime industry. Creating a positive organizational culture allows individuals a healthy work environment that promotes retention (Mendes & Stander, 2011).

Positive organizational culture creates a better environment in which to train cadets for the unique maritime industry and enables the mariners aboard training ships to connect cadets with maritime experts while grooming them for future employment in the U.S. fleet. Retaining mariners aboard training ships creates the highest quality mariner so society has competent mariners to transport commodities to stimulate economic growth in the United States. SMA leaders who implement the findings from this study can provide a foundation to improve retention and create a positive work environment. As a result, SMA mariners will become more confident in their work environment and build stronger relationships between cadets in training and opportunities in the maritime industry.

Recommendations for Action

The researcher's findings from this study provide a foundation of concepts relating to the Vroom's ET employee's need for motivation or the expected goals set by employees. Vroom (1964) delineated themes of valence, instrumentality, and expectancy to motivate employees to meet goals. The use of empowerment by leaders encourages employees with authority and responsibility (Wong & Laschinger, 2012). Business leaders who adopt business coaching to create career paths for employees influence the employee's professional and personal performances (Gatlin, 2014). The results of this study may assist SMA leaders in development and implementation of successful retention strategies to create a motivating atmosphere for mariners and cadets to excel in the maritime industry. Based on the findings, I recommend SMA leaders take the following actions:

- To balance equal compensation, determine a financial compensation for mariners aboard the training ship that competes with the maritime industry wages to reduce turnover with the competitive maritime industry.
- To enhance mariner performance, determine a flexible rotation for oversight of the training ship rotations to reduce the work overload of a 24/7-day operation and to coincide with the mariner work-home lifestyle as done in the maritime industry.
- Create a professional development program that allows mariners to become part of a select group of experts within the maritime field and assist mariners with maintaining their credentials.
- Create a business coaching plan for mariners to develop diverse skill sets and to engage mariners in the organization's daily operations.
- Develop maritime recognition awards to recognize the uniqueness and responsibility of the mariners overseeing the maritime training vessel.
- Build trust and transparency by improving policy and regulation manuals to reflect the distinctive operations aboard the training vessel and improve operational understanding for the mariners and the organization.

Recommendations for Further Research

SMA leaders are in positions to create alternatives that improve the overall performance of the organization and increase the retention of mariners aboard training

vessels. Leaders who understand how to use employees' values as motivation influence employees' production efforts toward goals (Vroom, 1964). The relationship of the perceived and recognized traits of leadership styles by the leader and employee influences the progress towards the goals (Alipour, Mohammed, & Martinez, 2017; Ford & Harding, 2016). The findings in this study can provide insight on the continuous improvement of the relationship between SMA leaders and mariners. Further research in the following areas may be beneficial to retaining mariners: (a) determining what mariners' value, (b) determining the characteristics of an ideal coaching program to better integrate mariners into an SMA, and (c) researching the success of retention strategies at other SMA.

The limitations of the study were due to the restriction of data sampling. First, it is important to understand what the mariner's value and require as motivation for employment. This study did not account for the mariner's needs or values directly. Second, the sampling of SMA leaders was limited to one SMA in one region instead of across the nation. There may be other alternatives available and mariners in various regions may have different perspectives. Lastly, the various techniques used by SMA leaders in other regions were not considered. Researching those might provide further insight on best practices of SMA leaders. For example, a comparison through a multiple case study of other U.S. SMA leaders and mariners would help determine if the findings for other regions confirm those from this study, thus providing a larger pool of data to increase the trustworthiness of the findings. The final determination of successful strategies on how to retain mariners at SMA would be found by validating the mariners' acceptance of the successful retention strategies used across the United States.

Reflections

In this qualitative single case study, I explored retention strategies used by SMA leaders and associated the expectancies of employees set by Vroom's ET. The association of institutional practices with theory benefits operational output in professional performance and societal expectations.

I now understand the importance of conveying knowledge throughout an organization to improve operation and quality of employee performance. Through my research, I found the importance of using theory as a foundation to improve institutional procedures for employees to develop a positive work place. In addition to the application of academically proven theory, I discovered the importance of leadership qualities. It is imperative for leaders to understand the needs, expectations, and inspiration used to motivate employees so that they feel appreciated and valued as they progress towards goals. The journey to completing my doctoral study required my commitment, improvement in communications, appreciation for knowledge, and consideration of ideas from various perspective based on established theory.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore SMA leaders' strategies to retain mariners. In Section 1, I reviewed literature referring to the uniqueness and opportunities of the maritime industry, the issues associated with retaining employees in various professions during periods of shortages, the intricacy of trainings mariners, and

compared various theories to determine those that best fit together into a conceptual framework for the study. In Section 2, I described my role as the researcher, developed a process for properly delving into data collection and analysis, and verified the validity and reliability of my research. In Section 3, I analyzed the interviews of five SMA leaders to determine the best retention practices to retain mariners aboard training ships, and I reviewed institutional documents to compare organizational processes with operational procedures. Four themes emerged from my data analysis: (a) compensation must reflect the economic needs of mariners and be competitive with maritime industry; (b) providing professional development is necessary to maintain mariner's maritime industry credentials and knowledge; (c) rewards and recognition efforts need to reflect the uniqueness of the program or the mariner; and (d) the need to increase transparency and trust to increase retention. The researcher's indings from the study provide insight into effective leadership strategies for retaining mariners aboard SMA training ships. Additional research is necessary to determine exactly what SMA leaders and mariners require as resources to fulfill the job satisfaction of the mariners while motivating them to work alongside SMA leaders to successfully accomplish SMA goals in a positive work environment.

- Abanda, F. H., Vidalakis, C., Oti, A. H., & Tah, J. H. M. (2015). A critical analysis of building information modelling systems used in construction projects. *Advances in Engineering Software*, 90, 183–201. doi:10.1016/j.advengsoft.2015.08.009
- Ahn, J., Lee, S., & Yun, S. (2018). Leaders' core self-evaluation, ethical leadership, and employees' job performance: The moderating role of employees' exchange ideology. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 148(2), 457–470. doi:10.1007/s10551-016-3030-0
- Aithal, P. S., & Kumar, S. (2016). Comparative analysis of theory X, theory Y, theory Z, and Theory A for managing people and performance. *International Journal of Scientific Research and Modern Education*, 1, 803–812. Retrieved from http://ijsrme.rdmodernresearch.com/
- Al-Yateem, N. (2012). The effect of interview recording on quality of data obtained: A methodological reflection. *Nurse Researcher*, *19*(4), 31–35.
 doi:10.7748/nr2012.07.19.4.31.c9222
- Al Shobaki, M. J., Naser, S. S. A., & Ammar, T. M. (2017). The degree of administrative transparency in Palestinian higher educational institutions. *International Journal of Engineering and Information Systems*, *1*(2), 15–32. Retrieved from http://www.ijeais.org
- Alipour, K. K., Mohammed, S., & Martinez, P. N. (2017). Incorporating temporality into implicit leadership and followership theories: Exploring inconsistencies between time-based expectations and actual behaviors. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 28,

300-316. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.11.006

- Anik, L., Aknin, L. B., Norton, M. I., Dunn, E. W., & Quoidbach, J. (2013). Prosocial bonuses increase employee satisfaction and team performance. *PLOS ONE*, 8, e75509. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-28036-8_306
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*(36), 1–9.
 Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Årlin, C., Börjeson, L., & Östberg, W. (2015). Participatory checking and the temporality of landscapes: Increasing trust and relevance in qualitative research. In *The Oxford handbook of historical ecology and applied archaeology* (pp. 1–15).
 Oxford, England: Oxford University.
- Auger, P., Devinney, T. M., Dowling, G. R., Eckert, C., & Lin, D. (2013). How much does a company's reputation matter in recruiting? *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 54(3), 79–88. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Ballard, T., Yeo, G., Loft, S., Vancouver, J. B., & Neal, A. (2016). An integrative formal model of motivation and decision making: The MGPM*. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*, 1240. doi:10.1037/ap10000121
- Barbare-Sanchez, V., & Atienza-Sahuquillo, C. (2017). Entrepreneurial motivation and self-employment: Evidence from expectancy theory. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, *13*(4), 1097–1115. doi:10.1007/s11365-017-0441-z

Barsan, E., Surugiu, F., & Dragomir, C. (2012). Factors of human resources

competitiveness in maritime transport. *TransNav International Journal on Marine Navigation and Safety of Sea Transportation*, 6(1), 89–92. doi:1201/b11345-9

Batista-Taran, L. C., Shuck, M. B., Gutierrez, C. C., & Baralt, S. (2013). The role of leadership style in employee engagement. In M. S. Plakhotnik, S. M. Nielsen, & D. M. Pane (Eds.), *Proceedings of the eighth annual College of Education & GSN research conference Miami* (pp. 15–20). Retrieved from http://coeweb.fiu.edu/research_conference/

Baylon, A. M., & Santos, E. M. R. (2015). Attractions, problems, challenges, issues and coping strategies of the seafaring career: MAAP seafarer's perspectives. *Safety of Marine Transport: Marine Navigation and Safety of Sea Transportation*.
Retrieved from https://www.crcpress.com/Safety-of-Marine-Transport-Marine-Navigation-and-Safety-of-Sea-Transportation/Weintrit-Neumann/

- Belmont Report. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. doi:10.1017/cbo9780511550089.028
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(21), 1–7. doi:10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Berger, R. (2013). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219–234.
 doi:10.1177/1468794112468475

Berzins, J., & Barbare, I. (2013). Development of maritime human resources and

education: Career education in Latvian Maritime Academy. *European Integration Studies*, 7(1), 14–17. doi:10:5755/J01.EIS.0.7.4381

- Beynon, M. J., Jones, P., Pickernell, D., & Packham, G. (2015). Investigating the impact of training influence on employee retention in small and medium enterprises: A regression-type classification and ranking believe simplex analysis on sparse data. *Expert Systems*, 32(1), 141–154. doi:10.1111/exsy.12067
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802–1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bojadziev, M., Stefanovska-Petkovska, M., Handziski, V., & Barlakoska, G. (2016). Age related preferences of leadership style: Testing McGregor's theory X and Y.
 Journal of Management Research, 8, 187–207. doi:10.5296/jmr.v8i4.10088
- Borgersen, H., Hystad, S., Larsson, G., & Eid, J. (2013). Authentic leadership and safety climate among seafarers. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 21, 394–402. doi:10:1177/1548051813499612
- Brubacher, S. P., Poole, D. A., & Dickinson, J. J. (2015). The use of ground rules in investigative interviews with children: A synthesis and call for research. *Developmental Review*, 36(1), 15–33. doi:10.1016/j.dr.2015.01.001
- Bruno, P. (2013). STCW Manila amendments. Retrieved from http://maritime.about.com/od/Safety_and_Security_Regulation/a/Stcw-Manila-Amendments.htm

Burgard, C., & Görlitz, K. (2014). Continuous training, job satisfaction, and gender: An

empirical analysis using German panel data. *Evidence-Based HRM: A Global Forum for Empirical Scholarship, 2*(2), 126–144. doi:10/1108/EBHRM-11-2012-0016

- Bussin, M. (2018). Reward solutions to retention questions. In M. Coetzee, I. L. Potgieter, & N. Ferreira (Eds.), *Psychology of retention: Theory, research and practice* (pp. 395–413). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-98920-4_19
- Caesar, L., & Cahoon, S. (2015). Training seafarers for tomorrow: The need for a paradigm shift in admission policies. *Universal Journal of Management*, *3*, 160– 167. doi:10:13189?ujm2015.030404
- Caesar, L., Cahoon, S., & Fei, J. (2014). Challenging the current paradigms of seafarer training and careers. *IAMU AGA 15 Looking Ahead Innovation in Maritime Education, Training, and Research, 27*, 348–356. Retrieved from http://iamuaga15.com
- Caesar, L. D., Cahoon, S., & Fei, J. (2015). Exploring the range of retention issues for seafarers in global shipping: Opportunities for further research. WMU Journal of Maritime Affairs, 14(1), 141–157. doi:10.1007/s13437-015-0078-0
- Callary, B., Rathwell, S., & Young, B. W. (2015). Insights on the process of using interpretive phenomenological analysis in a sport coaching research project. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 63–75. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Chambers, T. & Main, R. (2016). The matrix and the mariner. *The Journal of Ocean Technology*, *11*(1), 117–131. Retrieved from http://wwwthejot.net

Chan, S. R., Hamid, N. A., & Mokhtar, K. (2016). A theoretical review of human error in

maritime accidents. Advanced Science Letters, 22, 2109–2112.

doi:10.1166/asl.2016.7058

- Chikweche, T., & Fletcher, R. (2012). Undertaking research at the bottom of the pyramid using qualitative methods: From theoretical considerations to practical realities. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 15, 242–267.
 doi:10.1108/13522751211231978
- Choi, S., & Whitford, A. B. (2016). Employee satisfaction in agencies with merit-based pay: Differential effects for three measures. *Social Science Research Network*, 20(3), 442–466. doi:10.2139/22rn.2553622
- Chong, S. J., Jiang, L., & Chow, W. E. (2015). Challenges of forward naval surgical support for maritime forces. *Military Medicine*, 180, 888–891.
 doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-14-00532
- Cuevas, J. M., Julkunen, S., & Gabrielsson, M. (2015). Power symmetry and the development of trust in interdependent relationships: The mediating role of goal congruence. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 48, 149–159. doi:10/1016/j/indmarman.2015.03.015
- Darian-Smith, E. (2015). Global law firms in real-world contexts: Practical limitations and ethical implications. *Beijing Law Review*, *6*, 92–101.
 doi:10.4236/blr.2015.61010
- Davy, J. G., & Noh, C. K. (2012). The right person for the right job: A study on the need for enhancing collaboration between shipping companies & maritime academies.
 Journal of Korean Navigation and Port Research, 36, 291–298.

doi:10.5394/KINPR.2012.36.4.291

- Daxecker, U., & Prins, B. C. (2015). Enforcing order: Territorial reach and maritime piracy. *Conflict Management and Peace Science*, 34(4), 1–21. doi:10.1177/0738894215594756
- Dharejo, N., Baloch, M. N., & Jhatial, A. A. (2017). People management at workplace: Applications of the theory X and theory Y in public and private organizations sector in Hyderabad, Sindh, Pakistan. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, 6, 193–206. Retrieved from http://www.ejbss.com/recent.aspx-/
- Diggs, K. E. (2014). Tariffication of the coastwise trade laws. *Michigan Law Review*, *112*, 1507–1519. Retrieved from http://michiganlawreview.org/
- Dust, S. B., Resick, C. J., & Mawritz, M. B. (2014). Transformational leadership, psychological empowerment, and the moderating role of mechanistic-organic contexts. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 35, 413–433. doi:10.1002/job.1904
- Eftychiou, A., & Dowell, J. (2013). Direct perception biases with maritime navigation displays of collision risk. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 57, 1189–1193. doi:10.1177/1541931213571264
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 4(1), 1–10.
 doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Farías, M., & Sevilla, M. P. (2015). Effectiveness of vocational high schools in students' access to and persistence in postsecondary vocational education. *Research in Higher Education*, 56(7), 1–26. doi:10.1007/211162-015-9370-2

- Fitzpatrick, D. (2015). Criminalization of seafarers. *Studi Emigrazione, 198*, 212–221. Retrieved from https://dialnet.unirioja.es
- Flick, U. (2017). Mantras and myths: The disenchantment of mixed-methods research and revisiting triangulation as a perspective. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(1), 46–57. doi:10.1177/1077800416655827
- Florea, N., & Gilmeanu Manea, R. (2016). Leadership communication-an efficient way to motivate human capital. *Management & Marketing*, 14(1), 101–117. Retrieved from https://doaj.org.
- Ford, J., & Harding, N. (2018). Followers in leadership theory: Fiction, fantasy and illusion. *Leadership*, *14*(1), 3–24. doi:10.1177/1742715015621372
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Gatling, A. (2014). The authentic leadership qualities of business coaches and its impact on coaching performance. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring*, *12*(1), 27–45. Retrieved from

www.http//business.brookes.ac.uk/jiebcm

Gatling, A., & Harrah, W. F. (2014). The authentic leadership qualities of business coaches and their impact on coaching performance. *International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching & Mentoring*, 12(1), 27–46. Retrieved from http://business.brookes.ac.uk/ijebcm

Gerganov, L. D. (2014). Training of specialists in marine crew training facilities in

Ukraine using the current generation of simulators is the basis of maritime safety. *Edukacja-Technika-Informatyka*, *1*, 229–235. Retrieved from icm.edu.pl

Ghosh, K. (2014). Strategies for countering Somalian piracy: Responding to the evolving threat. *India Quarterly*, *70*(1), 15–31. doi:10.1177/0974928413511763

Ghosh, S., Bowles, M., Ranmuthugala, D., & Brooks, B. (2014). Reviewing seafarer assessment methods to determine the need for authentic assessment. *Australian Journal of Maritime & Ocean Affairs*, 6(1), 49–63. doi:10.1080/18366503.2014.888133

- Gonzalez, M., Semjonovs, D., Bogdanecs, A., & Ozola, S. (2014). Youngsters' motivation and difficulties for choosing seafarer career: The case of Latvia. *European Integrations Studies*, 8, 131–140. doi:10.5755/j01.eis.0.8.7323
- Grant, C., & Grant, V. (2015). Women in the maritime sector: Surviving and thriving in a man's world—A Caribbean perspective. WMU Studies in Maritime Affairs, 3, 83– 101. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-45385-8_7
- Grayson, L., & Media, D. (2013). *How to choose a sample size in qualitative research*. Retrieved from http://smallbusiness.chron.com/choose-sample-size-qualitative-research-40909.html
- Graziano, A., Teixeira, A. P., & Soares, C. G. (2016). Classification of human errors in grounding and collision accidents using the tracer taxonomy. *Safety Science*, 86, 245–257. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.026
- Grimmer, J., & Stewart, B. M. (2013). Text as data: The promise and pitfalls of automatic content analysis methods for political texts. *Political Analysis*, *21*, 267–297.

doi:10.1093/pan/mps028

- Grobe, T., Martin, N., & Steinberg, A. (2015). Creating pathways to employment: The role of industry partnerships in preparing low-income youth and young adults for careers in high-demand industries. *Jobs for the Future*. Retrieved from http://www.jff.org
- Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20(3), 109–122. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.925660
- Guest, H., Lotze, H. K., & Wallace, D. (2015). Youth and the sea: Ocean literacy in Nova Scotia, Canada. *Marine Policy*, *58*(1), 98–107. doi:10.1016/j.marpol.2015.04.007
- Güss, C. D., Burger, M. L., & Dörner, D. (2017). The role of motivation in complex problem solving. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 851. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00851
- Hargis, J., & Gilbertson, P. (2015). Keeping faculty [happy]: The critical role of a faculty center in developing and retaining quality, collegial faculty. *Metropolitan Universities*, *21*(2), 93–106. Retrieved from https://journals.iupui.edu/index.php/muj/index
- Haughton, C. J. (2012). From ships to leaderships—The leadership of maritime education and training (MET) institutions in the United Kingdom (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham.
- Hengen, N. L. (2013). Trico Marine and Jones Act citizenship. *Journal of Transportation Law, Logistics & Policy*, 80(1), 48–59. Retrieved from atlp.org/journal.html
- Herbert, I. P., & Rothwell, A. T. (2016). Employability and contingent finance professionals in the knowledge-based economy. *Chinese and American Scholars*

Association, Singapore. Retrieved from https://dspace.lboro.ac.uk/2134/24247

- Hoekstra, A., & Crocker, J. R. (2015). Design, implementation, and evaluation of an ePortfolio approach to support faculty development in vocational education. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *46*(3), 61–73. doi:10.1016/j.stueduc.2015.03.007
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17.

doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326

- Hughes, B. (2015). Recruiting, retaining, and benefiting from a diverse community college faculty: A case study of one college's successes. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *39*, 659–672.
 doi:10.1080/10668926.2014.885401
- Hundera, M. B. (2014). Factors affecting academic staff turnover intentions and the moderating effect of gender. *International Journal of Research in Business Management*, 2, 57–70. Retrieved from

http://www.cscjournals.org/journals/IJBRM/description.php

International Maritime Organization. (2015). Home page. Retrieved from http://IMO.org

- Isaksson-Persson, H. (2015). Bridging the boundaries between D&T education and working life: A study of views on knowledge and skills in product development (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). KTH Royal Institute of Technology.
- Jonas, J. (2016). Making practical use of Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory to motivate employees: A case of Masvingo Polytechnic. *Journal of Management &*

Administration, 2016(2), 105–117. Retrieved from journals.co.za

- Kahveci, E., Lillie, N., & Chaumette, P. (2011). *How to enhance training and recruitment in the shipping industry in Europe*. Retrieved from https://www.nautilusint.org/media/169258/ETF-Recruitment-report.pdf
- Kanfer, R., & Chen, G. (2016). Motivation in organizational behavior: History, advances and prospects. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 136(1), 6–19. doi:10.1016/j.obhdp.2016.06.002
- Kennerley, A. (2014). Global nautical livelihoods in the late nineteenth century: The sea careers of the maritime writers Frank T. Bullen and Joseph Conrad, 1869–1894. *International Journal of Maritime History*, 26(1), 3–24.
 doi:10.1177/0843871413513100
- Khairullina, E. R., Valeyev, A. S., Valeyeva, G. K., Valeyeva, N. S., Leifa, A. V.,
 Burdukovskaya, E. A., & Shaidullina, A. R. (2015). Features of the programs applied bachelor's degree in secondary and higher vocational education. *Asian Social Science*, *11*, 213–217. doi:10.5539/ass.v11n4p213
- Kim, H. R., & Kim, B. G. (2013). A study on the improvement of on-board training program through the analysis of satisfaction level. *Journal of the Korean Society* of Marine Environment & Safety, 19, 270–276. doi:10.7837/kosomes.2013.19.3.270
- Kim, J. S., Song, H. J., & Lee, C. K. (2016). Effects of corporate social responsibility and internal marketing on organizational commitment and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 55(12), 25–32.

doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.02.007

- Koenig, D. (2013). *How to select research participants for qualitative research*. Retrieved from http://www.ehow.com/how_7639438_select-researchparticipants-qualitative-research.html
- Kriglstein, S., & Pohl, M. (2015). Choosing the right sample? Experiences of selecting participants for visualization evaluation. *Eurographics: European Association for Computer Graphics*. doi:10.2312/eurorv3.20151146
- Kumar, A. A., & Mathimaran, K. B. (2017). Employee retention strategies-an empirical research. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*, 17(1), 1–7.
 Retrieved from https://journalofbusiness.org/index.php/GJMBR
- Kumar, S. N. (2015, October). The US MET system: Business-as-usual, or a paradigm shift to meet changing needs of the global energy market? Paper presented at the Maritime Education Summit, Castine, ME. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Shashi_Kumar34/publication/276291208_Th e_US_MET_System_Business-as-Usual_Or_A_Paradigm_Shift_to_Meet_Changing_Needs_of_the_Global_Energy

_Market/links/5556161708aeaaff3bf5ed22.pdf

Kunza, K., & Mileski, J. (2013). The short- and long-term effects of the design, construction, and technology utilized in a citadel on a seafarer, including seafarer safety and wellbeing both during and after a pirate attack, and the long-term sustainability of seafarers should a pirate attack occur. *Proceedings from IAMU AGA 14*. Retrieved from http://www.iamu-edu.org

- Kuvaas, B., Buch, R., Gagné, M., Dysvik, A., & Forest, J. (2016). Do you get what you pay for? Sales incentives and implications for motivation and changes in turnover intention and work effort. *Motivation and Emotion*, 40, 667–680. doi:10.1007/s11031-016-9574-6
- Lau, Y. Y., & Ng, A. K. (2015). The motivations and expectations of students pursuing maritime education. WMU Journal of Maritime Affairs, 14, 313–331.
 doi:10:1007/a13437-015-0075-3
- Lefkowitz, R. Y., Slade, M. D., & Redlich, C. A. (2015a). Injury, illness, and work restriction in merchant seafarers. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 58, 688–696. doi:10.1002.ajim.22459
- Lefkowitz, R. Y., Slade, M. D., & Redlich, C. A. (2015b). Risk factors for merchant seafarer repatriation due to injury or illness at sea. *International Maritime Health*, 66(2), 61–66. doi:10.5603/IMH.2015.0016
- Leggate, H. (2004). The future shortage of seafarers: Will it become a reality? *Maritime Policy & Management, 31*(1), 3–13. doi:10.1080/03088830310001642049
- Le Pelley, M. E., Mitchell, C. J., Beesley, T., George, D. N., & Wills, A. J. (2016). Attention and associative learning in humans: An integrative review. *Psychological Bulletin, 142*, 1111–1140. doi:10.1037/bul0000064

Licensing of Maritime Personnel, 46 CFR 10 (2016).

Lister, J. (2015). Green shipping: Governing sustainable maritime transport. *Global Policy*, 6(2), 118–129. doi:10.1111/1758-5899.12180

Liu, S. M., Liao, J. Q., & Wei, H. (2015). Authentic leadership and whistleblowing:

Mediating roles of psychological safety and personal identification. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *131*(1), 107–119. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2271-z

- Liu, X. (2013). Sample size determination for the confidence interval of mean comparison adjusted by multiple covariates. *Statistical Methods and Applications*, 22, 155–166. doi:10.1007/s10260-012-0212-5
- Ljung, M., & Widell, G. (2014). Seafarers working career in a life cycle perspectivedriving forces and turning points. Retrieved from http://publications.lib.chalmers.se
- Lu, W. (2016). Corporate social responsibility and firm risk: Implications from employee satisfaction. Asian Finance Association (AsianFA) 2016 Conference. doi:10.2139/22rn.2727172
- Mackay, M. (2015). Professional development seen as employment capital. *Professional Development in Education*, 43(1), 140–155. doi:10.1080/19415257.2015.1010015
- Madariaga Dominguez, E., Ortega, A., Martínez Marin, J. E., Díaz, E., Sotés, I., Oria, J.
 M., . . . & Sánchez, L. (2014). How the Manila amendments to the STCW code enhance training in maritime safety and security. *Marine Transpor VI: 6th International Conference on Maritime Transport*, 182–197. Retrieved from http://www.shipprofiles.com/
- Magramo, M., & Eler, G. (2012). Women seafarers: Solution to shortage of competent officers? *TransNav, the International Journal on Marine Navigation and Safety of Sea Transportation, 6*, 397–400. Retrieved from www.transnav.eu

Makokha, E., Namusonge, G., Kanali, C., & Milgo, A. (2014). Determinants of

effectiveness of employee performance appraisal system in institution of higher learning: A survey of public universities in Nakuru County. *European Journal of Business and Management.* 6(8),1–6. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org

- Maritime Administration. (2015). *Utilization of U.S. vessels and mariners*. Retrieved from https://www.marad.dot.gov/
- Mayoh, J., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2014). Surveying the landscape of mixed methods phenomenological research. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 8(1), 2–14. doi:10.5172/mra.2014.8.1.2

McGregor, D. M. (1960). The human side of enterprise. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill

- McNamara, C. (2013). *General guidelines for conducting research interviews*. Retrieved from http://managementhelp.org/businessresearch/interviews.htm
- Mehta, R., Dahl, D., & Zhu, R. (2017). Social-recognition versus financial incentives?
 Exploring the effects of creativity-contingent external rewards on creative performance. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 44, 536–553.
 doi:10.1093/jcr/ucx062
- Merriam, S. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mileski, J., & von Zharen, W. (2014, October). Women in the maritime industry: Recruitment and retention. Paper presented at the Maritime Education Summit at Castine, ME.
- Mitroussi, K., & Notteboom, T. (2015). Getting the work done: Motivation needs and processes for seafarers and dock workers. *WMU Journal of Maritime Affairs, 14*,

247–265. doi:10.1007/s13437-014-0064-y

- Mohovic, D., Mohovic, R., & Baric, M. (2016). Deficiencies in learning COLREGs and new teaching methodology for nautical engineering students and seafarers in lifelong learning programs. *Journal of Navigation*, 69, 765–776. doi:10.1017/S035346331500096X
- Moore, G. F., Audrey, S., Barker, M., Bond, L., Bonell, C., Hardeman, W., . . . & Baird,
 J. (2015). Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. *British Medical Journal*, *350*, h1258. doi:10.1136/bmj.h1258
- Mori, Y. (2014). An analysis of leadership education and training in maritime education and training institutions. (Unpublished master's thesis). World Maritime University, Malmö, Sweden.
- Morse, J. M., & Niehaus, L. (2016). *Mixed method design: Principles and procedures*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Morton, D. (2012). *The relationship between authentic leadership and employee retention: Measuring the perceived level of authentic leadership and the effect on employee retention* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Wright State University, Fairborn, OH.

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Nikolova, N., Möllering, G., & Reihlen, M. (2015). Trusting as a 'leap of faith': Trustbuilding practices in client-consultant relationships. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 31, 232–245. doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2014.09.007

Nilson, C. (2016). A journey toward cultural competence: The role of researcher

reflexivity in indigenous research. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 28(2), 1–9. doi:10.1177/1043659616642825

- Nyberg, A. J., Pieper, J. R., & Trevor, C. O. (2016). Pay-for-performance's effect on future employee performance: Integrating psychological and economic principles toward a contingency perspective. *Journal of Management*, 42, 1753–1783. doi:10.1177/0149206313515520
- Ogidan, A. O., & Lao, T. M. (2015). A case study on leadership development programs and the impact on employee retention. *Leadership & Organizational Management Journal*, 2(1), 45–66. Retrieved from

http://www.franklinpublishing.net/leadership.html

- Okonna, K., Ushie, B. C., & Okworo, G. (2014). Effect of gender on academic performance of maritime trainees in Nigeria taught with web-based resources. *Journal of Philosophy, Culture and Religion, 2*, 12–14. Retrieved from http://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JPCR
- Painter, S., & Clark, C. M. (2015). Leading change: Faculty development through structured collaboration. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 187–198.
 Retrieved from http://www.informingscience.org/Journals/IJDS/Articles
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533–544. doi:10.1007/s10455-013-0528-y

Papachristou, A., Stantchev, D., & Theotokas, I. (2015). The role of communication to

the retention of seafarers in the profession. *WMU Journal of Maritime Affairs*, *14*, 159–176. doi:10.1007/s13437-015-0085-1

- Peplińska, A., Jeżewska, M., Leszczyńska, I., & Połomski, P. (2014). Purpose in life and work-related stress in mariners: Mediating role of quality of marriage bonds and perceived anxiety. *International Maritime Health*, 65(2), 87–92. doi:10.5603/IMH.2014.0019
- Petrinović, R., Mandić, N., & Siriščević, E. (2016). The importance of maritime law in seafarer training pursuant to amendments to the STCW Convention. *Transactions* on Maritime Science, 5(1), 53–64. doi:10.7225/toms.v05.n01.007
- Piniella, F., Silos, J. M., & Bernal, F. (2013). Who will give effect to the ILO's Maritime Labour Convention, 2006? *International Labour Review*, 152(1), 59–83. doi:10.1111/j.1564-913X.2013.00169.x
- Podsakoff, P., MacKenzie, S., & Podsakoff, N. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 539–569. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452
- Porter, W. W., Graham, C. R., Spring, K. A., & Welch, K. R. (2014). Blended learning in higher education: Institutional adoption and implementation. *Computers & Education*, 75, 185–195. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2014.02.011
- Pougnet, R., Pougnet, L., Loddé, B., Canals, L., Bell, S., Lucas, D., & Dewitte, J. D.
 (2014). Consumption of addictive substances in mariners. *International Maritime Health*, 65(4), 199–204. doi:10.5603/IMH.2014.0038

Powell, P. M. (2015). The mixed up exercise of admiralty jurisdiction over mixed

contracts, namely umbrella insurance policies covering shore-side and sea-side risks. *Ocean & Coastal Law Journal*, 20(1), 1–40. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.mainelaw.maine.edu/oclj

Progoulaki, M., Katradi, A., & Theotokas, I. (2014). Promoting and developing seafarers' welfare under the maritime labour convention: A research agenda. SPOUDAI-Journal of Economics and Business, 63(3–4), 75–82. Retrieved from http://spoudai.unipi.gr/index.php/spoudai

- Purba, J. T. (2015). Strategy optimizing marine industry through sustainable human capital development: Indonesia perspectives. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(5), 129–135. doi:10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n5s5p129
- Qu, S. Q., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8, 238–264. doi:10.1108/11766091111162070

Ramdhani, A., Ramdhani, M. A., & Amin, A. S. (2014). Writing a literature review research paper: A step-by-step approach. *International Journal of Basic and Applied Science*, 1(3), 47–56. Retrieved from http://www.sciencepubco.com/index.php/ijbas

- Ray, J. (2016). Staff motivation and its impact on performance in a retail environment.(Doctoral dissertation). Dublin Business School, Dublin, Ireland
- Raza, S., Kanwal, R., Rafique, M. A., Sarfraz, U., & Zahra, M. (2017). The relationship between HRM practice, workplace communication and job performance of service industries employees in Vehari, Pakistan. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 9(2), 122-140.

doi:10.29322/IJSRP.8.3.201

- Rengamani, J., & Charith, B. (2015). Study on the job stress of Indian mariners using job demand control model. *Journal of Management*, 6(10), 62–68. Retrieved from http://www.iaeme.com/IJM/index.asp
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*(1), 25–41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rodham, K., Fox, F., & Doran, N. (2015). Exploring analytical trustworthiness and the process of reaching consensus in interpretative phenomenological analysis: Lost in transcription. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18(1), 59–71. doi:10.1080/13645579.2013.852368
- Rodriguez, J., & Walters, K. (2017). The importance of training and development in employee performance and evaluation. *World Wide Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development, 3*, 206–212. Retrieved from http://www.wwjmrd.com
- Romelczyk, E., & Becker, A. (2016). Missing the tide? Workplace cultural differences as a barrier to seafarer mobility in the U.S. workboat and sail training sectors. *Maritime Policy & Management, 43,* 843–859.
 doi:10.1080/03088839.2016.1185182
- Rony, N. I., & Suki, N. M. (2017). Modelling the relationships between internal marketing factors and employee job satisfaction in oil and gas industry. *Asian Social Science*, *13*(3), 135–144. doi:10.5539/ass.v13n3p135
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative

research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *21*, 332–342. doi:10.1177/1077800414563803

- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 77, 243–260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Saeed, F., Bury, A., Bonsall, S., & Riahi, R. (2016). A cost benefit analysis approach to identify improvements in merchant navy deck officers' HELM (human element leadership and management) training. *TransNav: The International Journal on Marine Navigation*, 10(4), 1–10. doi:10.12716/1001.10.04.02
- Sageer, A., Rafat, S., & Agarwal, P. (2012). Identification of variables affecting employee satisfaction and their impact on the organization. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 5(1), 32–39. doi:10.9790/487x-0513239
- Sampson, H., Walters, D. James, P., & Wadsworth, E. (2014). Making headway? Regulatory compliance in the shipping industry. *Social & Legal Studies*, 23, 383. doi:10.1177/0964663914529684
- Sardžoska, E. G., & Tang, T. L. P. (2012). Work-related behavioral intentions in Macedonia: Coping strategies, work environment, love of money, job satisfaction, and demographic variables. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *108*, 373–391. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1096-2
- Sartori, R., Costantini, A., Ceschi, A., & Tommasi, F. (2018). How do you manage change in organizations? Training, development, innovation, and their relationships. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1–11. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00313

- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2015). Participant anonymity in the internet age: From theory to practice. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 12(2), 125– 137. doi:10.1080/14780887.2014.948697
- Schröder-Hinrichs, J. U., Hollnagel, E., Baldauf, M., Hofmann, S., & Kataria, A. (2013).
 Maritime human factors and IMO policy. *Maritime Policy & Management, 40*, 243–260. doi:10.1080/03088839.2013.782974
- Seafarers' Rights International. (2013). *SRI criminal survey*. Retrieved from https://www.seafarersrights.org/newsletters_publications/sri_criminal_survey
- Siedlok, F., & Hibbert, P. (2014). The organization of interdisciplinary research: Modes, drivers and barriers. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16, 194–210. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12016
- Sieweke, J., Köllner, B., & Süß, S. (2017). The relationship between employees' objective internal and external pay standing and their job performance: A withinperson analysis. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *32*, 533–546. doi:10.1007/s10869-016-9457-6
- Singhapong, P., & Winley, G. K. (2017). Associations among personal characteristics, work related factors, and virtual distance. *AU Journal of Management*, *14*(2), 1–25. Retrieved from www.aujm.au.edu
- Simpson, A., & Quigley, C. F. (2016). Member checking process with adolescent students: Not just reading a transcript. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 376–392. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr

Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2011). Teacher job satisfaction and motivation to leave

the teaching profession: Relations with school context, feeling of belonging, and emotional exhaustion. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *27*, 1029–1038. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2011.04.001

- Slack, R. E., Corlett, S., & Morris, R. (2015). Exploring employee engagement with (corporate) social responsibility: A social exchange perspective on organisational participation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 127, 537–548. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2057-3
- Slišković, A., & Penezić, Z. (2015). Occupational stressors, risks and health in the seafaring population. *Review of Psychology*, 22(1–2), 29–40. Retrieved from http://hrcak.srce.hr/162052
- Stannard, S., Vaughan, C., Swift, O., Robinson, G., Altaf, S. A., & McGarry, A. (2015).
 Women seafarers' health and welfare survey. *International Maritime Health*, 66(3), 123–138. doi:10.5603/IMH.2015.0027

State Maritime Academy, 46 CFR 310 (2016).

Stevenson, C. J. (2015). Sustainable development issues in shipping: Women, the underrepresented human resource. *Maritime women: Global leadership* (pp. 255–265). Springer, Berlin Heidelberg.

Szlapczynska, J. (2015). Data acquisition in a manoeuver auto-negotiation system. TransNav: International Journal on Marine Navigation and Safety of Sea Transportation, 9, 343–348. doi:10.12716/1001.09.03.06

Theotokas, I., Lagoudis, I., & Kotsiopoulos, N. (2014). Leadership profiling of ocean going ship masters. *The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, 30*, 321–343.

doi:10:1016/j.ajsl.2014.12.004

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2013). *Institutional review boards* (*IRBs*). doi:10.4135/9781452240121.n189
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2013). *Rivers & streams*. Retrieved from http://water.epa.gov/type/rsl/index.cfm
- Van Eerde, W., & Thierry, H. (1996). Vroom's expectancy models and work-related criteria: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81, 575. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.81.5.575
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative–quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(1), 21–54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org
- Verburg, R. M., Nienaber, A. M., Searle, R. H., Weibel, A., Den Hartog, D. N., & Rupp,
 D. E. (2018). The role of organizational control systems in employees' organizational trust and performance outcomes. *Group & Organization Management*, 43, 179–206. doi:10.1177/1059601117725191
- Vives, A., González, F., & Benach, J. (2016). S09-1: What measure to use for monitoring and research on precarious employment? Comparison of the multidimensional employment precariousness scale and the temporary employment indicator. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 73(Supplement 1), A108–A109. doi:10.1136/oemed-2016-103951.293

Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. New York, NY: Wiley.

Wang, K., & Chen, D. (2017). What are some retention strategies that sales organizations

in various industries have been using to retain sales reps aside from compensation? *Cornell University IRL Collection*, *17*(11), 1–6. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu

- Wohlin, C., & Aurum, A. (2015). Towards a decision-making structure for selecting a research design in empirical software engineering. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 20, 1427–1455. doi:10.1007/s10664-014-9319-7
- Wolgemuth, J., Erdil-Moody, Z., Opsal, T., Cross, J. E., Kaanta, T., Dickmann, E. M., & Colomer, S. (2015). Participants' experiences of the qualitative interview:
 Considering the importance of research paradigms. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 351–372. doi:10.1177/1468794114524222
- Wolgemuth, J., Hicks, T., & Agosto, V. (2017). Unpacking assumptions in research synthesis: A critical construct synthesis approach. *Educational Researcher*. 46(3), 131–139. doi:10.3102/0013189X17703946
- Wong, C. A., & Laschinger, H. K. (2013). Authentic leadership, performance, and job satisfaction: The mediating role of empowerment. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 947–959. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06089.x
- Wong, C. & Laschinger, H. (2012). Authentic leadership, performance, and job satisfaction: The mediating role of empowerment. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 947–958. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.060899.x
- Xu, A. J., Loi, R., & Ngo, H. J. (2016). Ethical leadership behavior and employee justice perceptions: The mediating role of trust in organization. *Business Ethics*, 134, 493–504. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2457-4

- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 134–152. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/sss/QR/
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48, 311–325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zeiger, E. (2016). Protecting human rights and safety of merchant mariners: International maritime commerce at the expense of safety and humanity (Doctoral dissertation). Vallejo, CA: California Maritime Academy. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10211.3/173276

Appendix: Interview Protocol-SMA Leader

The following list of questions demonstrates the type of questions asked during the interview process. The interview process should take approximately 1 hour and allow the participant to answer questions freely. The list of questions below is to help structure the interview.

Introduction questions to engage participant in communicating position of an SMA leader:

- How do you oversee the process of retaining mariners aboard the training ships?
- What are the various employed positions found aboard the training ships? The second set of questions will provide the bulk of information on retention techniques used at the SMA.

Participants' open-ended interview questions:

- What successful retention strategies do you employ to retain mariners on SMA training vessels?
- 2. How do these successful strategies benefit professional development of the employees?
- 3. How do these successful strategies, like rewards, as positive reinforcement to engage mariners in employment aboard a training ship?
- 4. What strategies do you practice to improve transparency and trust with mariners aboard the training ship?

- 5. What strategies do you use to ensure mariners aboard training ships have what they need to perform their jobs?
- 6. Is there any additional information you would like to share about successful retention strategies that you have not yet mentioned in this interview?

The closing of the interview will employ an open-ended question to encourage participants to add any further ideas or suggestions that they feel are pertinent to the current research. This process concludes with an expression of thanks for their time and participation, along with an acknowledgment that their information will provide a valuable resource to the research and to the maritime industry:

This concludes my set of questions. I would like to offer you the chance to comment on any retention benefits, compensation, or ideas on how to increase the retention of qualified mariners aboard training ships to provide the highest quality education to your cadets.

To ease the interview process, the researcher can interject personal understanding of the research issue by describing personal experience related to the subject to build a personal relationship between interviewer and interviewee (Berger, 2013). This open interaction can facilitate a positive response once the interviewer and interviewee have built a respectful relationship.